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Friday, May 18, 2007


--- Upon commencing at 9:04 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Good morning, everyone.  We are reconvening in the matter of application EB‑2006‑0501.  This is day 10 of the evidentiary portion of the hearing.  Today we will have the examination of the witnesses for AMPCO on load forecasts and charge determinants.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:


Before we begin, I would like to discuss mainly the schedule for the hearing, in particular submissions.  I know that Ms. Lea and/or Ms. Campbell have been talking to you about that.


I guess, in spite of the number of people who were interested in written submissions, that we as a Panel would really prefer oral submissions, and so you have a tentative schedule in front of you for that and I would like you to consider it and sometime today give us some feedback on that schedule so that we can finalize it by the end of the day.


We do know that it is it an aggressive schedule, but the Board itself has limitations on when we can proceed with these matters and we want to do so as quickly as possible.


Are there any immediate questions or concerns around what you have seen in the schedule or the subject of oral submissions or the questions about oral submissions?  Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. BUONAGURO:  In my recent experience, the company would have some sort of opening argument just summarizing their positions on the points raised through the hearing, and I don't see that here.  So I am just wondering why that is, if the company has a position on that.


MS. NOWINA:  On Board Staff's submissions?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, for example ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Oh, Hydro One?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  In the recent Enbridge hearing, Enbridge put in a written argument, and then we responded and they had a reply, so...


MS. NOWINA:  Right.  Mr. Rogers?


MR. ROGERS:  Well, my experience has been that both approaches have been followed.  I favour this approach in this case.  The application is what it is.  I can summarize the application in the argument, but really the important thing is to respond to the intervenors' criticisms of the company's case.


And at the moment I have a pretty good idea of where a lot of it is going to come from, but there is really no useful purpose, I submit, of me submitting an argument-in‑chief, and I am quite willing to waive my right to have that.  The parties all know the company's position.


MR. BUONAGURO:  One thing off top of my head, as I understand there is still an outstanding undertaking on the adjustment mechanism, which sets out how the position has changed since the filing, for example.  I presume that we'll get that --


MR. ROGERS:  Oh, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- before we can ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, I presume we will get all of the undertakings before we have oral submissions.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, for sure.  I'm hoping is to have them all done on Tuesday.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  Any other questions or concerns.  Mr. DeVellis?


MR. DeVELLIS:  I have only just seen the schedule this morning, but I guess the time lines concern me.  I know that the hearing, the oral portion will be done on Tuesday, which would give us literally less than a week to prepare our submissions.  I am just concerned that that is not enough time for people to prepare sort of detailed submissions that a case like this would warrant.  So those are my concerns.


MS. NOWINA:  Anyone else have any similar concerns?  Mr. Long.


MR. LONG:  I will check with our counsel.  I'm a little concerned about Tuesday, making our final arguments.  I understand the logic of it.  It is pretty narrow.  So I could let you know probably by noon time whether we can do that.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, I understand, Mr. Long.  We're not asking you to make all of your submissions on Tuesday, just those on the jurisdictional issues.  The rest of your submissions you can make later, when everyone else makes their submissions.  It was just that piece which we wanted to give others an opportunity to respond to.


MR. LONG:  For obvious reasons, yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I would echo what Mr. DeVellis has said.  I would have to talk to my consultant about preparing for oral argument on all of these issues within that time frame, but it seems intuitively a little tight for me, that's all.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We will take it into consideration.  I'm not certain that there is a lot we can do, Mr. Buonaguro.  Most of this panel is moving into another major application very soon, and there is simply a tight time frame in order to deal with this application.  All right, any other preliminary matters?


MR. ROGERS:  Just one for me, Madam Chair.  I filed one other undertaking answer, Exhibit K, tab 6, schedule 1, which is -- a copy of which is before you.


I can -- as I said earlier, I will try to have all of the rest of the undertakings filed by Tuesday morning.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.  Anything else?


All right.  To give you a sense of our schedule today, then, since this witness panel is AMPCO's panel, we will begin with the examination-in‑chief of Mr. Rodger.  Then I believe Mr. Moran will be up next, followed by Mr. Buonaguro.  Can I get ‑‑ and Mr. Rogers and Ms. Lea at the end.  


So the question is:  Who is going to be between Mr. Buonaguro and Mr. Rogers, in terms of examination of this panel?  Mr. DeVellis?


MR. DeVELLIS:  I likely won't have any questions.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  I will ask you at the time.  Mr. Long?  Fine.  Thank you.  Mr. Rodger.


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  We are ready to proceed with AMPCO's panel this morning.  I wonder if I could first ask that the witnesses go ahead to be sworn, please.


MR. RODGER:  While that is being done, I should advise that with me today, Madam Chair, is Mr. Adam White, who is AMPCO's president.

ASSOCIATION OF MAJOR POWER CONSUMERS OF ONTARIO - PANEL 1

Wayne Clark, Sworn


Darren MacDonald, Sworn


Gary Saleba, Sworn

MR. RODGER:  Madam Chair, just before I introduce the witnesses, just for the record, I wanted to identify the prefiled exhibits that AMPCO has filed in this case.  The first is a document entitled, "AMPCO evidence with respect to network charge determinants and load forecasting methodology and assumptions", dated February 14th, 2007, which I understand has been given Exhibit No. I, tab 1, schedule 1.


There is also a document entitled, "Testimony of Gary S. Saleba on behalf of AMPCO", also dated February 14th, 2007, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 2.


We have also attached a report by Navigant Consulting entitled, "Blueprint For Demand Response in Ontario", dated April 2003, which is Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 3; the CV for Mr. Saleba, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 4; and a one‑page chart entitled, "Network Transmission Demand Allocator", Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 5.


I believe the only two items that have not been given exhibit numbers, which I would ask for now, is the CV for Mr. Darren MacDonald and the CV for Mr. Wayne Clark.


MS. NOWINA:  Do you have those with you, Mr. Rodger?


MS. LEA:  Mr. Rodger, I'm sorry, do we have copies of those?


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  Those were sent out last week, Ms. Lea.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  Are you content they become one exhibit collectively?


MR. RODGER:  That's fine.


MS. LEA:  All right.  So CVs -- and could you repeat the witness's names, please?


MR. RODGER:  Darren MacDonald, M-a-c-D-O-N-A-L-D, and Mr. Wayne Clark, C-L-A-R-K.  I have extra copies of the CVs if you don't have them handy, Ms. Lea.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Exhibit L10.1.

EXHIBIT NO. L10.1:  CURRICULUM VITAE OF WAYNE CLARK AND WARREN MacDONALD.

EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. RODGER:

MR. RODGER:  Thank you.  So, Mr. MacIntosh -- just to introduce the panel, to my immediate left is Mr. Gary Saleba, next to Mr. Saleba is Mr. Wayne Clark, and next to Mr. Clark is Mr. Darren MacDonald.  


Mr. MacIntosh, if I could start with you.  Could you please indicate your position and title?


MR. MacDONALD:  My name is Darren MacDonald.  I'm the director of energy for Gerdau Ameristeel.  That's it.


MR. RODGER:  And could you please describe your educational and employment background?


MR. MacDONALD:  Well, I'm the director of energy for Gerdau.  Prior to my employment with Gerdau Ameristeel, I was employed at Enbridge Gas Distribution, where I held positions of increasing responsibility focussed on energy utilization and contracting.  


Prior to Enbridge, I was employed by Ontario Power Generation, conducting research on emissions from OPG's thermal power plants.


I serve on a board of directors of several regional industrial energy groups, as well as Elcon, Elcon's technical committee, and the energy committee for the Steel Manufacturers Association.


I have a bachelor in chemical engineering from Ryerson University in Toronto, and I'm a certified energy manager in the US with the Association of Energy Engineers.


MR. RODGER:  Could you please describe your responsibilities as director of energy at Gerdau Ameristeel. 


MR. MacDONALD:  As director of energy, I lead a team that is responsible for energy procurement and utilization at 18 steel mill production facilities in the United States and Canada.  We spend approximately $350 million a year on energy and I'm responsible for that procurement of that natural gas and electricity.  


MR. RODGER:  And you filed a copy of your CV in Exhibit L10.1, and I take it this is a true and accurate summary of your qualifications and experience. 


MR. MacDONALD:  Yes, it is. 


MR. RODGER:  Next to you, Mr. Clark.  You have also filed your CV as Exhibit L10.1.  I understand that you're a professional engineer with 30 years of experience in the electricity sector. 


MR. CLARK:  That is correct. 


MR. RODGER:  And you've been a consultant since 2000, and prior to that time you held various management positions with Hydro One, and -- formerly Ontario Hydro?  


MR. CLARK:  It was Ontario Hydro at the time, yes. 


MR. RODGER:  Can you give us an overview of your range of experience at Ontario Hydro. 


MR. CLARK:  My range of experience includes some transmission and a great deal of distribution over the space of my career there including engineering, operations, planning, design, customer service and a number of information technology projects.  


MR. RODGER:  And what area of evidence, generally speaking, will you be speaking to today?  


MR. CLARK:  I will be speaking to the load forecast. 


MR. RODGER:  I understand this is your first time appearing as a witness before this Board? 


MR. CLARK:  That is correct. 


MR. RODGER:  Finally, Mr. Saleba, you have also filed a copy of your CV at Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 4.  This is a true and accurate summary of your qualifications and experience, sir? 


MR. SALEBA:  Yes, it is. 


MR. RODGER:  Please describe your education and professional background.


MR. SALEBA:  I have a Bachelor's degree in mathematics and economics, and a Master's in business administration.  I started out my career while in university with Indianapolis Power and Light where I worked in the rate department.  Moved out to Seattle in the late ‘70s and formed EES.  EES is a professional engineering and management consulting firm.  We have about fifty professional employees, about half engineers and half non-engineers.  We have three offices on the west coast, and our client base is all through North America.  We work a lot in B.C. and Alberta, and obviously in Ontario, including the US.  I am the president and CEO of EES Consulting and provide overall QC, QA for the firms consulting activities. 


MR. RODGER:  You previously -- 


MS. LEA:  Pardon me, I'm sorry, Mr. Rodger, it maybe an aging asset issue.  I can't hear Mr. Saleba very well.  I don't know whether his microphone button was in fact illuminated. 


MR. SALEBA:  I will speak up. 


MS. LEA:  That's better. 


MR. RODGER:  Mr. Saleba, you have previously testified in proceedings in Ontario before? 


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.  I have been active in the Ontario energy market for 25 years.  And originally I worked for Ontario Hydro where we consulted in the rates and cost allocation process.  Subsequent to that, we did a lot of work for the MEA, and now the EDA, where we assisted in, again, cost allocation answer rate design, as well as strategic guidance on resource acquisition, CDM, and we taught several technical seminars for the LDC staff in these areas as well.  


We also worked for Ottawa Hydro in a couple -- for litigation support, and most recently, we were lead consultants on the OEB retail cost allocation generic proceeding. 


MR. RODGER:  I understand from your CV you also testified in other transmission rate proceedings, including BPA, FERC, Alberta, B.C. and elsewhere? 


MR. SALEBA:  Yes. 


MR. RODGER:  Could you briefly describe your cost allocation and transmission rate design work with public and investor-owned utilities over the past 30 years.


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.  Over the past 30 years, we've probably done 350 or 400 cost allocation and rate design studies and, oh, roughly two-thirds of those involve transmission, costing and pricing.  So we've done a fair amount of transmission cost and pricing over the last 25 years.  This is one of our primary lines of business.  


MR. RODGER:  Madam Chair, given Mr. Saleba's special expertise in the electricity sector over the past 30 years, I would ask he be qualified as an expert in cost allocation and electricity rate design.  


MS. NOWINA:  Any other parties have any concerns about Mr. Saleba's qualifications?  


He will he will be so designated, Mr. Rodger. 


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Panel, I referred to the various exhibits that AMPCO has prefiled in this case.  Have these materials been prepared under your care and control?


MR. SALEBA:  Yes. 


MR. CLARK:  Yes. 


MR. MacDONALD:  Yes. 


MR. RODGER:  And to the best of your knowledge is the information contained in that evidence accurate and correct? 


MR. SALEBA:  Yes. 


MR. CLARK:  Yes. 


MR. MacDONALD:  Yes. 


MR. RODGER:  Do you each adopt these exhibits and interrogatory responses as your evidence today?


MR. SALEBA:  Yes. 


MR. CLARK:  Yes. 


MR. MacDONALD:  Yes. 


MR. RODGER:  Turning first to you, Mr. Saleba, what is the purpose of your testimony?


MR. SALEBA:  The purpose of my testimony was to comment on the billing determinants for the network transmission rate, and in summary, I suggest that these determinants need to reflect cost of service, provide correct pricing signals, and need to support the conservation goals and ethic of the province. 


MR. RODGER:  Could you please describe the approach you took in your review of the proposed network transmission rates.


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.  Any time we undertake a review in a situation like this of the utility's application, we have two criteria we look at.  One would be:  What's the industry practice in this area, in this case it would be transmission cost allocation and rate design.  The other is to take a look at other tribunals, to see how they have dealt with similar issues.  And in that context we've looked at the tribunals in B.C. and Alberta as well as the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission in the US.  


MR. RODGER:  Now, why are other regulatory arenas surveyed, and FERC principles, in particular, explored? 


MR. SALEBA:  The tribunals, in particular, define industry practice, in our view.  Seeing how other regulators deal with transmission issues like this is a good heads-up for somebody undertaking the exercise.  


The second thing is that with respect to FERC, FERC really has two -- their process is such that they go through a generic proceeding on an issue, and then establish higher principles, and apply those higher principles to the applicant utility.  


And within FERC over the last ten years, they've had extensive hearings, oh, on transmission costing and pricing, and it's been a good forum for debate.  It's been a good forum for vetting different issues, and there have been some, in my view, some fairly structured higher principles come out of that process. 


MR. RODGER:  Could you please briefly describe how to determine cost of service and transmission costing and pricing.  


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.  Within the transmission costing, which -- we talk about cost of service and rate design, and we talk about costing and pricing.  And costing and cost allocation are the same, in my view, and rate design and pricing are the same.  So we use those terms interchangeably. 


But within the costing or the cost of service part, we go through the usual exercise of functionalizing, classifying or categorizing in Ontario, and allocating cost, and that's the process which Hydro One used in developing their proposal.  


MR. RODGER:  Once the cost of service is determined, how are transmission rates, then, designed?  


MR. SALEBA:  The cost of service part of the exercise is what I called the science.  There's a fair amount of engineering that goes into cost allocations.  The rate design is more the art side of it, where you take the results of the cost of service, and put into that various other criteria, like the Bondbright principles.  And so we talk about the science and the art, so the cost allocation is the science and the rate design is the art.  


MR. RODGER:  Based on precedent, what are the guiding principles, in your view, for rate design? 


MR. SALEBA:  Again, Bondbright is the one that comes up with the list of seven or eight principles for rate design which are commonly quoted, and they include things like the rates to be cost-based, they should recover the utility's revenue requirement.  They should be fair, just and reasonable, not unduly discriminatory.  Promote economic efficiency.  Easy to understand.  They should be stable from the customer's expectations.  Have some continuity in philosophy, and reflect cost causation. 


MR. RODGER:  Now, in your view, sir, are there other considerations that you believe this Board should consider in approving transmission rate design for network charge determinants.



MR. SALEBA:  Yes.  There are two other variables which come into play for the rate design.  The first would be any kind of a policy or legislative mandate, such as the conservation mandate given to the province.  The other would be to reflect any fundamental changes in how the business has been operating, and in this context that would be the significant increase in transmission expenditures forecast over the next foreseeable future. 


MR. RODGER:  Could you now please explain the regulatory principles and standards employed by FERC.  


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.  FERC's standards are similar to others.  By statute, they're required to develop rates which are fair, reasonable and not unduly discriminatory.  They also have the standards that the revenue requirement should be collected, economic efficiency should be enhanced.  And that wholesale service should be paid for by wholesale rates, i.e., no functional cross-subsidy between generation and transmission services. 


MR. RODGER:  Turning before the application before the Board in this proceeding, did you review Hydro One's rate filing including the updates from Hydro One?  


MR. SALEBA:  Yes I did. 


MR. RODGER:  Are the principles used by Hydro One appropriate?

MR. SALEBA:  Yes.

MR. RODGER:  And is the cost of service methodology used by Hydro One appropriate?

MR. SALEBA:  I believe so.

MR. RODGER:  How did Hydro One design rates for the network class?

MR. SALEBA:  After the cost allocation was completed, Hydro One came up with a billing determinant methodology for network class where the customer would be paid by ‑‑ would be charged based upon the greater of their monthly coincident demand or 85 percent of the customer's non‑coincident demand for that month.

MR. RODGER:  And what other rate design options were reviewed by Hydro One, in your view?

MR. SALEBA:  Hydro One looked at two other options.  One was using the customer's twelve monthly coincident peak demands as the billing determinant for the network charge.  The other was where the customer's maximum coincident demand during all hours when the system ‑‑ when the system was in 90 percent of meeting their peak demand were aggregated and used as the billing determinant.

MR. RODGER:  In your opinion, Mr. Saleba, is the rate design methodology ultimately adopted by Hydro One for the network class appropriate?

MR. SALEBA:  In my opinion, no.  I think the ratchet, which is that 85 percent of the maximum non‑coincident demand being included as a criteria for the billing determinants is inappropriate and should be removed.

MR. RODGER:  What do you mean by a ratchet, specifically?

MR. SALEBA:  Okay, a ratchet is a billing mechanism for the demand charge whereby some previous demand is used as a minimum amount of demand charge which should be collected.  

So as an example, if a customer had a 100-megawatt coincident peak demand, but had a 200-megawatt non‑coincident demand, the ratchet on the Hydro One determinants would say the customer would have to have a demand charge predicated on 85 percent of the 200 megawatts, rather than the 100 megawatts at the time of the system peak.

MR. RODGER:  And in your opinion, what's the impact of this ratchet?

MR. SALEBA:  Ratchets traditionally remove much of the price signal and the incentive to shift load.

MR. RODGER:  And what is the potential impact of removing the ratchet?

MR. SALEBA:  Well, if the ratchet were removed, customers would be incentivized to reduce their coincident demand more than what they are under the current rate structure.

MR. RODGER:  Now, Hydro One has indicated that the removal of the ratchet results in unstable revenues.  How would you propose handling this issue of the ratchet being removed?

MR. SALEBA:  There are two ways to eliminate the concern about revenue stability.  The first would be to update the load forecast billing determinants based upon a removal of the ratchet.  Hydro One has estimated the impacts of removing the ratchet in some of their interrogatories, so this exercise I don't think would be too troublesome from them.

The second mitigating mechanism we propose is, I'll call it a balancing account, very much like the LRAM account which has been used in the province here, whereby there is a true‑up over a -- periodically to adjust billing determinants from forecast to actual.

And this true-up mechanism can be referenced in the AMPCO IR response to the OEB's Staff, Exhibit J, tab 17, schedule 3, pages 1 through 4.

MR. RODGER:  And, Mr. Saleba, did you compare Hydro One's rate design with similar rates from other regional transmission owners?

MR. SALEBA:  Yes we did.  On the AMPCO Exhibit, I, tab 1, schedule 5, at page 17, there's a list of the survey that we did of other regional transmission owners.  And we went from west coast to east coast to try to survey a good cross‑section of how other regional transmission owners dealt with this issue.  

On the west coast we looked at BCTC, BPA and the California ISO.  Then moving west, we looked at the midwest ISO, and then in the -- more east, we looked at the northeast ISO, the New York ISO and PJM.

We also looked, in Alberta, at Alta and EPCOR to see how they dealt with the transmission rate design.

MR. RODGER:  Did you review transmission rates from other entities?

MR. SALEBA:  Yes.  More recently we looked at the Alberta IESO rates.  Other than that, no others.

MR. RODGER:  Now, Mr. Saleba, what is your recommendation to this Board?

MR. SALEBA:  We suggest ‑‑ I would suggest five things.

First of all, we think ‑‑ I think the ratchet should be removed from the network charge.  Removing the ratchet would maximize the transmission efficiency by encouraging loads to reduce during peak times and consumed during off-peak times. 

The second would be for rate design, the need to consider the current context of the Ontario conservation culture and the large expansion in transmission expenditures that is anticipated.

Thirdly, it's important to provide the correct pricing signal for each component of a customer's bill, since the customer can make the choice and respond to it or not.  

The fourth thing would be new network transmission rates should be calculated based upon a load forecast, assuming the ratchet is removed.  And then finally I would suggest the balancing account, like the LRAM, be implemented to make sure that the full revenue requirement for the transmission function is recovered.

MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Saleba.

Now turning next to you, Mr. MacDonald, could you please briefly explain the purpose of your testimony today.

MR. MacDONALD:  Well, I want to provide the perspective of a large industrial consumer with respect to the network charge determinants.

As a large consumer, we hear messages and policy objectives of the Province of Ontario and the Ontario Power Authority and others about establishing a conservation culture in the province.

In our view, Hydro One's proposed network rate design is a barrier to demand response, not only for industrial users, large users, but also for all users of the system, residential and commercial.

The current rate design limits the incentive, as Mr. Saleba spoke to, for any customer, like our company, to reduce demand during the peak periods.

I want to provide you with my company's view on how transmission rate design could support the Ontario government in its efforts to encourage demand response.  

In the prefiled AMPCO exhibit on page 6, this is described as implementing a transmission rates design that provides a superior price signal to customers to promote efficient demand management and would lead to improved utilization of the transmission system.

MR. RODGER:  Mr. MacDonald, before you commence further, could you please describe what you mean by demand response.

MR. MacDONALD:  By demand response, I mean allowing customers - industrial, commercial, residential consumers - to manage down their electricity consumption during the peak periods.  

Demand response can be viewed in two different ways.  One is reducing your load during the peak periods, and the other is encouraging load shifting away from those peak periods. 

So first let's deal with the goal of reducing during the peak periods.  The transmission rate design should provide a parallel signal to increasing energy prices to encourage loads to reduce consumption during the critical peaks and shift as much load away from the non‑critical peak periods.

By reducing load during the system peak, you reduce transmission congestion and you parallel reduce commodity costs.  In addition, you get the emission reduction from the generators and you get the emission reduction from the load that otherwise would have been operating.

Hydro One's approach, the 12 coincident peaks, is really a departure from cost causation and it promotes inefficient transmission system usage.  In my view, it makes no sense to provide a disincentive to use the transmission system during periods of time when the transmission system isn't loaded.

The signal to load should be to increase consumption while the transmission system is not loaded and decrease consumption when the transmission system is loaded.  Measuring peaks in the off peak or in shoulder non‑peak seasons just doesn't make sense to us as an industrial consumer.

MR. RODGER:  Now, earlier on you spoke about the goal of implement a transmission rate design that provides a superior price signal to customers to promote efficient demand management and would lead to improved utilization of the transmission network.  

What do you mean by the phrase "superior price signal"?

MR. MacDONALD:  Well, a rate design that sets a customer's peak, regardless of the price on the system or regardless of the load on the system, is not providing an appropriate market signal.  

If a load sets its maximum peak early in the month, under the current Hydro One structure, that load no longer has any incentive to reduce load and, in fact, has an incentive to use the system at that same peak regardless of the system load.

That really provides no feasible incentive to reduce load during peak hours.  The current rate design provides incentives to loads between 7 o'clock in the morning and 7:00 at night, which is such a large period of time that it actually discourages load management.

Steel mills, for example, are a facility.  It is a very capital-intensive business and needs to operate on a continuous basis to be sustainable.  Twelve-hour load management periods, five days a week, 52 weeks of the year is not only infeasible; the bulk of those hours aren't peak hours.  The transmission system is not loaded during the bulk of those hours.

MR. RODGER:  Mr. MacDonald, why should other loads support a transmission rate design that supports demand response?

MR. MacDONALD:  All loads, residential, industrial and commercial, will see reduced energy costs and reduced capacity transmission costs if they participate in load reduction.  AMPCO filed the 2003 Navigant study that was produced for the IESO, and that is Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 1, starting at page 4.  

I will quote from that Navigant report starting at line 20 of the AMPCO exhibit:

"Based on confidential information provided by the IMO, Navigant Consulting estimates that if the Ontario market had 250 megawatts of additional demand response, which is about 1 percent of Ontario's peak demand, during those peak periods when the HOEP was greater than $120 per megawatt hour, average prices in Ontario since market opening would have been almost 2 percent lower resulting in approximately $170 million in reduced electricity costs for all customers.  This reflects the fact that the Ontario supply curve is quite steep whenever the HOEP is greater than $100 per megawatt hour and small reductions in demand can have significant impacts on prices."  


Therefore this report -- 


MR. RODGER:  That's the end of the quote, Mr. MacDonald, I take it?  


MR. MacDONALD:  Yes, thank you. 


MS. NOWINA:  Before you continue, Mr. MacDonald. 

Mr. Rodger, this is getting a bit lengthy for examination in-chief.  We know the evidence that's been filed.  


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  Mr. MacDonald is just about done.  Mr. Clark will be very brief, but the witnesses did feel this was important, given the length of this hearing and the information that has gone before it, that we try to summarize it. 


MS. NOWINA:  I understand that and I was certainly willing to do that but this particular one seems to have become a bit repetitive.  


MR. RODGER:  All right.  Perhaps you could just finish this answer, Mr. MacDonald, and then we will move to your recommendation. 


MR. MacDONALD:  Sure.  The report shows that demand response is providing incentives for additional demand response that can benefit all customers.  And I think it is important to note that the price – yesterday, we discussed the price being 80 percent fixed and that's really not a valid argument.  


In the province, the IESO bills the hourly load times the hourly megawatts and if you reduce your load, your bill will be less.  Yet your rebate coming through the market mechanisms on global adjustment and the non-prescribed asset rebate will still be the same as they were.  They're based on the average price for the month.  


So all savings for all customers will occur by actually reducing demand.  


MR. RODGER:  All right.  Just before I ask you to wrap up and give your recommendation for the Board, have you got any experience in any other jurisdiction that might assist the Board in this matter, briefly?  


MR. MacDONALD:  Yes.  In Mr. Saleba's prefiled evidence, he discussed research in various jurisdictions that he looked at.  One of those was PJM, and we operate plants in the PJM territory.  In fact, my recommendation comes directly from my experience in PJM where our transmission costs are based on a five CP methodology.  


MR. RODGER:  Finally then, Mr. MacDonald, what is your recommendations for this Board?  


MR. MacDONALD:  Well, I think enhanced demand response is exactly the type of approach the province seeks as part of the CDM agenda.  The design of effective and efficient transmission charge determinants should consider the context of the total delivered cost of energy in Ontario.  


Consumer behaviour that generates benefits for all customers in terms of lower commodity prices and better utilization of the transmission infrastructure should be encouraged whenever it is feasible.  


We believe this rate design is something that Hydro One can contribute towards the province's conservation culture.  

And we submit that network costs should be recovered from transmission customers on the basis of the hourly peak demand during hourly system peak periods in the months of January, February, June, July and August.  


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. MacDonald.  Finally turning to you, Mr. Clark.  


Please briefly explain the purpose of your testimony.  


MR. CLARK:  I will try to be brief.  I guess to start off, AMPCO customers are all large users.  They have substantial transmission charges.  We are well aware that the charge determinants are set both by the revenue requirement and by the load forecast and that an incorrect load forecast can drive a lot of excess or deficient revenue if it were wrong in the other direction, with an impact on customers and or Hydro One.  This is large risk area.  


Our review through the interrogatories of the actual demand that has occurred during the last eight years versus the forecast, and particularly the weather correction of that demand and its effect, is that there has been a substantial transfer of wealth from customers over to Hydro One that has been accumulating and it has been consistently moving in the same direction for the past eight years.  


MR. RODGER:  And what would you -- would you please explain what you believe to be the problems with Hydro One's load forecast.


MR. CLARK:  I see three key ones.  The most obvious is the problem with bias in the weather correction.  In our Exhibit L9.2, we showed that using figures supply by Hydro One you could see a persistent bias in the weather correction towards reducing demand.  It went on for eight years.  This is not consistent with the normalization process, in which you should have a 50-50 chance that in any given year the load is going to go up or going to go down after weather correction. 


For something like this to happen on a normalization process eight times in a row, statistically, that is a rough odd of about 1 to 256, which means to get a similar eight-year period you would have to run the experiment for about 2000 years which I suggest is not truly a credible result.  


The second problem is with the CDM estimates.  They don't include the results that happened to meet the provincial target prior to 2006.  That goal was set, I believe, in late 2003.  There were initiatives that had been in place, 2004, 2005, and yet the full accomplishment is shown in 2006 and 2007.  


I guess the second point there is that particularly some of the demand response programs, such as Smart Stat and Peak Saver, that would be part of the demand response   programs, are shown to be fully effective for four months of the year, when I know the utilities that are running these programs are targeting them very specifically around annual system peak, not around monthly peaks for all of the summer months.  


Finally, I believe taking those prior two into account plus the fact that the 2006 actual demand showed up to the somewhat higher than was forecast, that rebasing -- redoing the forecast with the base year of 2006 would improve its accuracy significantly.  


MR. RODGER:  Finally, Mr. Clark, what solutions do you recommend that the Board consider?  


MR. CLARK:  I can see two possibilities.  One is that Hydro One should try and see where the problems are with the weather correction and modify their model appropriately.  There are examples out there that are performing somewhat better.  And as I suggested, use the 2006 base year, that I think would be a preferred alternative. 


The second alternative, if Hydro One is committed to using the IESO for a load forecast in 2009 and 2010, maybe just get on with it now and do it.  The IESO seems to be somewhat more consistent and more balanced in the way its weather correction works, and by balanced I mean the results come out roughly symmetrical.  Sometimes up.  Sometimes down. 


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Clark.  Those are my questions, Madam Chair. 


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.  Mr. Moran.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY Mr. Moran:  


MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  


Let me start with you, Mr. Clark.  AMPCO has how many members?  


MR. CLARK:  North of 50, south of 60, I believe.  


MR. MORAN:  Is every large user in Ontario a member of AMPCO?  


MR. CLARK:  No.  


MR. MORAN:  Do you know how many large users there are in Ontario?  


MR. CLARK:  I think that's a matter of definition, but it would be probably in the neighbourhood of 100 or so.  


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Saleba, do you know how many directly connected customers there are on the Hydro One system?  


MR. SALEBA:  Rough numbers, 200.  


MR. MORAN:  Do you know how many of those are large users as opposed to LDCs?  


MR. SALEBA:  Sounds like -- no.  I would say no, I don't know exactly.  


MR. MORAN:  Do you know where the large users are located in Ontario?  


MR. SALEBA:  Generally.  


MR. MORAN:  And can you tell us where they are?  


MR. SALEBA:  Well, there's several of them up north in the pulp and paper area.  There's several down in the metropolitan areas, car manufacturers and the like.  


MR. MORAN:  And do you know when these customers were first connected to the Hydro One system?


MR. SALEBA:  No.  


MR. MORAN:  Do you know how many of them were connected prior to electricity restructuring in Ontario?  


MR. SALEBA:  No. 


MR. MORAN:  Do you know what their individual electricity consumption patterns are? 


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.  We have reviewed that. 


MR. MORAN:  Do you have that information available?  


MR. SALEBA:  It seems like their peak demands are in the -- for the AMPCO people are in the neighbourhood of 1000 megawatts.  They're high load factor customers.  Load factors in the 70, 80 percent range on a monthly basis and coincident factors in that same range.  


MR. MORAN:  Do you know where the high load factor customers are located in Ontario?  


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.  Generally all around.  


MR. MORAN:  Generally all around?


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.  


MR. MORAN:  All right.  The low load factor, where are they located in Ontario? 


MR. SALEBA:  The low load factor customers would be traditionally your residential customers, and they would be spread throughout the province, as well.  


MR. MORAN:  We're talking about the directly connected customers to Hydro One.



MR. SALEBA:  Oh, they would be the LDCs, compared to the ETCs, and they would be spread around the province, as well.


MR. MORAN:  Do you know how many large users are connected to distribution system?


MR. SALEBA:  Versus the transmission?


MR. MORAN:  Versus the transmission.


MR. SALEBA:  I don't remember offhand.


MR. MORAN:  Do you know which customers ‑‑ which directly connected customers are in a position to shift their use off the system peak?


MR. SALEBA:  I don't know that.  Somebody on the panel probably does.


MR. MORAN:  Anyone else on the panel know who those customers are?


MR. CLARK:  Sorry, would you rephrase the question?


MR. MORAN:  Do you know which of the large directly connected customers are in a position to shift their use off the system peak?


MR. CLARK:  I can give you a characteristic answer, but -- first of all, steel companies which have large energy usage, batch processes, have some flexibility, probably more than others.  Companies that are members in the large ‑‑ the chemical industry, for example, do not have that sort of flexibility.  


Outfits like mines, the mines themselves are generally inflexible.  Some of the ancillary operations may have some flexibility, but not a great deal.  In my experience in industry, it's the steel companies that have probably the most significant amounts of flexibility here.


Most of our members do not have great flexibility on this.


MR. MORAN:  And so if we take your answer with respect to the steel companies, who ‑‑ I think you defined a particular group of steel companies, not all steel companies; right?


MR. CLARK:  You have different amounts of flexibility with different types.  Operations like Mr. MacDonald's probably have the greatest flexibility as opposed to the continuous operations that you see in other places.


MR. MORAN:  Okay.  So taking that group of customers that might have some flexibility, can you tell us where they're located in the province?


MR. CLARK:  Um...


MR. MacDONALD:  We've got the power steel mills which are in Cambridge and Whitby.  We've got Ivaco steel mills in -- out east, and we've got the Dofasco in Hamilton.


MR. CLARK:  And Algoma in Sault Ste. Marie?


MR. MacDONALD:  Right.  Algoma is integrated.


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Saleba, you were talking about the conservation culture.  Can you tell me which of the directly connected customers have been engaging in CDM activities since market restructuring has taken place?


MR. SALEBA:  No.


MR. MORAN:  Are you able to tell me how many large users are buying power in the spot market?


MR. SALEBA:  No.


MR. MORAN:  Do you know how many of them are buying power under contract at fixed prices?


MR. SALEBA:  No.


MR. MORAN:  I would like to take you now to your testimony in Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 2, at page 4.


MR. SALEBA:  Okay.


MR. MORAN:  Sorry, page 2, line 4.


There's a question there that says:  

"Has AMPCO reviewed and authorized this testimony?" 


And the answer is, "Yes."  I wonder if you could just describe what that process was.


MR. SALEBA:  In testimony like this, we typically get a call from somebody like Mr. White and he'll say -- you know, he'll question us about background on expertise and such things.  We go through that to determine whether we're capable of doing it and if we have a conflict.  And after that discussion, we'll get the filing, write up a list of issues, vet that through Mr. White, as well as Mr. Rodger, and develop testimony and prepare it as you see in the report.


MR. MORAN:  Fine, okay.  And if it hadn't been authorized, it wouldn't be filed, I assume?


MR. SALEBA:  I think that's a safe assumption.


MR. MORAN:  All right, thank you.  Yesterday I asked Hydro One some questions about the RP-1999‑0044 decision, and I want to ask you a similar kind of question.


In that decision, the Board indicated that ‑‑ and I quote:   

"A rate design aimed at customer demand reduction during the system's coincident peak hours would meet the test of economic efficiency, but only if the network transmission system is generally capacity constrained.  This is not the case for the OHNC network transmission system either today or in the foreseeable future."


Hydro One witnesses indicated that as of today, and continuing, that the transmission system is not generally capacity constrained.  Are you in a position to contradict their view of that?


MR. SALEBA:  The esoterics of the transmission operation in Ontario would probably be beyond my expertise, but I will say that there are roughly, oh, anywhere from $100- to $200 million in congestion charges that are collected each year in Ontario, which tells me that there is a problem some place.


MR. MORAN:  Right.  But you're not sure where that problem is, are you?


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.


MR. MORAN:  And you don't know if it's confined to a particular part of Ontario or not, or whether it is widespread, are you?


MR. SALEBA:  I've had discussions with Mr. Clark about where the constraints are.  If you would like some engineering background on that, I'm sure the panel could provide it.


MR. MORAN:  I'm just asking you what you know, Mr. Saleba.  You're not in a position to talk about where those constraints are and when they happen, and whether they're localized within Ontario or generally spread throughout Ontario?


MR. SALEBA:  No, again, but given the size of the congestion charges that are collected, there is a problem some place in the province.


MR. MORAN:  Some place, okay.  I wonder if you could go to page 11 now of your testimony, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 2.


MR. SALEBA:  Okay.


MR. MORAN:  This is the part of your evidence where you're discussing the principles that ought to be taken into account when you're engaging in rate-making.  And towards the bottom of that page, you are asked the question whether these standards and principles are consistent with those that were used by Hydro One, and you indicate that they were.


Then over the next page you list what they are.  So I would like to just sort of go through these with you and see if I understand how you think they ought to work.


Starting with the first one at the top of page 12:

"There should be effectiveness in yielding regulated revenue requirements for transmitters while ensuring that the socially undesirable expansion of the rate base is discouraged."


Now, you've indicated that you've been involved in the Ontario market for a large number of years, and, if you take a look at the last seven years, are you able to point to any evidence of socially undesirable expansion?


MR. SALEBA:  No.  These are higher principles which we try to adopt in coming up with a specific application.  I think it goes without saying that you want to make sure the utility gets its revenue requirement.  At the same time, you don't want to establish a rate design that would promote inefficient expansion of the transmission network.


MR. MORAN:  I think you think you also pointed to the fact that there are a number of projects that are coming forward, and are you able to say to the Board that any of those proposed projects are socially undesirable, in terms of expansion?


MR. SALEBA:  No, no.  The gist of our testimony is to set out pricing mechanisms which would ensure that only the transmission that is needed would be put in.  And it may be that changes in things like the ratchet might seem minuscule, but, over time, they have a cumulative effect and they support the objectives of the province and should be undertaken.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  So something might happen, but right now you can't say that there's socially undesirable expansion occurring?


MR. SALEBA:  Again, I wouldn't say that.  What I would say is, though, you want to make sure your costing and pricing is set up such that people behave in the most efficient manner to eliminate any potential of inefficient investment down the road.


MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  Moving to the next one, then:

"The pricing methodology should provide revenue stability and predictability for transmitters with a minimum of unexpected changes that could result in adverse impact on the companies."


I take it the reference to companies is the ‑‑ that's a reference to the utility; right?


MR. SALEBA:  It could be utilities.  It could be LDCs, as well.


MR. MORAN:  So you intend that reference to be something ‑‑ okay.  It would be the LDC if the LDC was before the Board with its rate-making process?


MR. SALEBA:  Well, the LDCs can benefit from a change in the ratchet just like the large industrial could, as well.  It seems like LDCs have more tools to mitigate loads than what a big industrial customer might.


MR. MORAN:  The revenue stability and predictability issue, what you're proposing is some kind of a variance account, right, that ‑‑


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.  We suggest re-forecasting billing determinants, and then some sort of a periodic true‑up to make sure that Hydro One gets their revenue requirement.


MR. MORAN:  Moving to the next principle:

"The pricing methodology should reflect cost causality and the rates should be cost‑based to the extent possible, taking into consideration the balance with overall public interest, efficiency, feasibility and practicality."


Would you agree that the statement "rates should be cost‑based to the extent possible" means that generally rates aren't actually specifically cost‑based; they're quite often just cost related?


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.  It goes back to the higher principles of the science and the cost of service versus the art of rate design.  And cost of service is the beginning step of rate design, at which time other considerations are included.  


MR. MORAN:  Right.  So if you were going to do a cost based approach to the expansion of the network, for example, if it was going to be expanded to accommodate some industry in the far north, that would be one way to do it on a cost-based basis would be to say:  You have to pay for that whole expansion, you industries up in the north.  But the alternative would be what we see in Ontario which is a pooled approach to the network; right?


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.  Whether you go regional, zonal or provincial in rate design is more of a policy issue than anything. 


MR. MORAN:  Right.  And it's true that in terms of how the network was developed in Ontario, I mean there was a relationship to economic development in Ontario prior to electricity restructuring; right?


MR. SALEBA:  Could be, yeah.  


MR. MORAN:  All right.  Moving on to the next principle, the pricing methodology -- sorry.  Before I leave that one.  Taking into consideration the balance with overall public interest, what do you understand "overall public interest" to mean in that context?


MR. SALEBA:  Well, in this context, it's the provincial mandate to pursue CDM and load management to the maximum extent possible, to delay or possibly defer permanently the need for new generation in the province.  


MR. MORAN:  The next principle: 

"The pricing methodology should be fair and equitable and it should not favour any one group or type of customer at the expense of other customers."  


When we look at what you're proposing, without any movement whatsoever on the conservation front, if your approach was implemented, isn't it true that as a direct result of moving to that approach, there will be a difference in the costs that are borne by different groups of customers; we will see LDCs and their customers absorbing more cost and we will see some direct-connected customers not bearing as much cost?  


MR. SALEBA:  I saw that in the Hydro One interrogatory, but I respectfully disagree.  


Again, the rate design change we're talking about would apply to a large user, just like it would an LDC.  And it seems like LDCs have more options to control load than what a large industrial car manufacturer might, as an example.  So I think the approach we're looking at here could easily benefit a LDC more than a large industrial customer.  But we're not suggesting is rate design only apply to a large user, it is applied to everybody that takes transmission service. 


MR. MORAN:  Your evidence is that LDCs with millions of customers connected to them, versus some directly connected customers who have total control over their own operation, are better able to manage their load? 


MR. SALEBA:  I think so, yeah, there is a lot more pieces to work with for an LDC, such as water heater controls and air-conditioning controls and high efficiency lights whereas an auto manufacturer is stuck with a process.  They have lots of employees.  Electricity is a small percentage of the bill.  They're there to make cars.  Our experience has been the residential sector is the one that is the most flexible and has the most potential for load control.  


MR. MORAN:  All right.  And have you done any studies with respect to the potential for conservation amongst the large users, and the technologies that might be available for large users to implement? 


MR. SALEBA:  No.  


MR. MORAN:  All right.  So it's in that context that we should understand your last answer?  


MR. SALEBA:  Well, the context is the change we're suggesting is for everybody.  It's not focussed at one area.  Your question was whether there was going to be a cost shift or a disproportionate burden of this put on the LDCs.  And I don't think so.  You know, this is an option available to anybody that takes transmission service in the province, and our experience has been LDCs have got more flexibility in that area than most big industrials. 


MR. MORAN:  Then again, looking at the class of large users themselves, you indicated that you don't know how many of them are in a position to shift their load, but Mr. Clark indicated that some of them are.  


But within that class, there will be people who will get an immediate advantage from your proposal and other people who will not as a result of the change that you're proposing.  Isn't that fair?  


MR. SALEBA:  I don't know that to be the case.  


MR. MORAN:  I'm sorry. 


MR. SALEBA:  I don't know.  As I said, we haven't don't in-depth studies in Ontario about manufacturing processes, but we work for other large industrials all over North America. 


MR. MORAN:  So you don't know if a large customer who cannot shift its load is in a different position from a customer who can shift their load?  


MR. SALEBA:  Well, I think they would be.  


MR. CLARK:  If I can help on that.  Mr. Saleba's testimony and position is being supported by the AMPCO board, and as I noted, a number of those industries, in fact possibly a majority, have very limited flexibility.  But in going through this, they realized that if some can move and start to effect price, all can benefit here.  


That's the -- a base reason why AMPCO is supporting this proposal.  It is not just to help out one board member, with all respect.  It's to help out all.  


MR. MORAN:  But based on the actual impact of the change that you're proposing amongst that group of large users, clearly some of them will benefit more than others on a direct basis; right?


MR. CLARK:  The sense is some will benefit more, but all will benefit.  


MR. MORAN:  Right.  The next principle:  

"The pricing methodology should be transparent, simple to understand and implement and should have attributes of convenience of payment, economy and collection, public acceptability and feasibility of application."  


I take it, Mr. Saleba, on that principle, the existing approach matches that principle; right?  


MR. SALEBA:  I think it does.  


MR. MORAN:  And the difference between what you're proposing and what's in place already is we now have to add this variance account that will have to be the subject of regulatory scrutiny on an ongoing basis; right?  


MR. SALEBA:  Right.  


MR. MORAN:  All right.  And then finally:

"The pricing methodology should be free from ambiguity as to proper interpretation."  


I take it there is no issue with how to interpret the existing methodology; right?  


MR. SALEBA:  I think the existing methodology in the proposal are both fairly easy to understand. 


MR. MORAN:  Now, there is another principle that you haven't listed here, but I take it you wouldn't disagree, but -- and that is that there should be continuity in rate-setting philosophy.  That is another principle to take into account, is it not?  


MR. SALEBA:  That's correct.  That's one of Bondbright's principles.  


MR. MORAN:  And I guess the other one that I think you left out, which I might just quote to you from Bondbright's text.  Fairness of the specific rates and the apportionment of total cost of service among the different consumers, that is another principle that applies; right? 


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.  


MR. MORAN:  It is quite an important one, isn't it?  


MR. SALEBA:  It is.  


MR. MORAN:  And ultimately, when you look at all of these principles, and I think as you conceded in your evidence, you know, these are not all marching in the same direction.  Some of these principles are in opposition to one another; right?


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.  That's why we have tribunals to wrestle out which ones are more important than others. 


MR. MORAN:  Right.  So when we get to what you described as the art, it is a question of where it is appropriate to strike the balance amongst those competing principles and all you're here to do is to say, Here is one way to strike the balance; right? 


MR. SALEBA:  I think my job here is to say yes, this is one way to strike the balance and to explain why it is better than the status quo.  


MR. MORAN:  There is an interrogatory Exhibit J, tab 17, schedule 4.  I don't think you need to turn it up.  It's the one that sets out how the typical directly connected customer bill breaks down.  It indicates that the commodity portion of the bill is typically about 74 percent and the transmission component is about 11 percent.  You don't disagree with that?  


MR. SALEBA:  No.  I remember that interrogatory.  That's correct. 


MR. MORAN:  It's fair to say out of that 11 percent the network component is only a part of that 11 percent; right?


MR. SALEBA:  It’s the major part, but there is other components to it. 


MR. MORAN:  That's right.  And when you compare that 11 percent to the 74 percent, it's fair to say that if anybody's incented to improve their bottom line, they're going to be driven by the total cost; isn't that true?


MR. SALEBA:  That's correct. 


MR. MORAN:  The biggest part, three-quarters of total cost, is really the commodity and that's where the real savings, the real significant part of any saving is going to be; right?


MR. SALEBA:  Well, that's significant.  But every little bit helps.  Again, going back to that theme.  If we can change the billing determinants to where there is no additional cost to anybody, and there can be some deferral of transmission investment, it seems like there is a benefit at no cost, and something that should be considered. 


MR. MORAN:  Right.  In looking at the commodity and the spot market price versus other ways that electricity is sold, you're not in a position, I think as you already indicated, to tell the Board how many of these large users are actually participating in that spot market so that they would be, would be motivated to go after that cost; right?  


MR. SALEBA:  That's correct.  I think the spot market and the commodity pricing is one side of it.  But the other side is, is the incentive of trying to shift load, and a change in the billing determinants would increase the incentive to shift load from on peak to off peak, at little to no cost.  


So you know, an economist looks at the cost benefit  of something in whether or not to pursue it, it seems like there is definitely a benefit associated to removing the ratchet at little or no cost.  


MR. MORAN:  If a large user takes steps to reduce its use of the commodity, that's going to create a benefit that ripples through the system right in any event, particularly if that reduction happens at the peak, regardless of what happens on the transmission side?  But I gather your answer is, Well, let's have a good price signal anyway. 


MR. SALEBA:  That is one answer.  The second one is if you can get more benefit than you are currently getting by reducing the ratchet or eliminating the ratchet, why not do it. 


MR. MORAN:  Bottom line though, you have no evidence to put in front of the Board about how large users are actually going to be able to shift their load off the peak and who is going to do it, and how they're going to do it and how many are already doing it, for that matter.  You just have no evidence on that front?


MR. SALEBA:  Again, my recommendations are not from a vested interest standpoint.  It just seems like doing away with the ratchet which is something which would increase the incentive to shift load at little or no cost, and it is an option available to all customers, not just industrial customers.


MR. MORAN:  Madam Chair, those are all of my questions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Moran.  Mr. Buonaguro?


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. BUONAGURO:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


I'm going to start with what I call the AMPCO panel, which I guess largely excludes Mr. Saleba.  If you want him to answer, you can.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro --


MS. LEA:  Have mercy upon, again, the aging asset issue here.  If your microphone isn't on, please turn it on.


MR. CLARK:  I can't hear either.


MR. BUONAGURO:  It's on.  I'm just speaking quietly.


I am going to start with what I call the AMPCO panel, which would be everybody but Mr. Saleba, unless you think it is appropriate that he answer.


MR. SALEBA:  I would be happy to take a break.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I am starting with the reference to the AMPCO evidence at page 6, and I just wanted you to confirm that under the proposal, the billing determinant for network charges would be the customer's demand during the hour of the monthly system peak for the months of January, February, June, July and August; is that correct?


MR. MacDONALD:  Actually, our proposal is to look at periods, two peak periods, one which would be the January, February period, the winter peak period, and the summer peak period, June, July and August, and look at two coincident peaks within the winter period and three coincident peaks within the summer period for a total of five.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So those five months are included?


MR. MacDONALD:  Those five months, but the peak would not occur in a single month.  The peaks would occur, as they do, through that period.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And I think you probably already summarized this, but the current alternative determinant, 85 percent of non‑coincident peak would be eliminated as a consideration?


MR. MacDONALD:  Could you repeat the question?  I can't hear you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  You would be eliminating the 85 percent non-coincident peak alternative?


MR. MacDONALD:  Yes, correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Could you explain why you would pick the five months of January, February, June, July and August?


MR. MacDONALD:  Well, those are the traditionally high load periods for the transmission system and a period of time where you would like to provide an incentive for a customer to reduce load during peak periods.  


We went for hours, rather than 12-hour periods, in order to only capture hours where the transmission system is actually loaded.


MR. BUONAGURO:  When you say the traditionally high load, you mean those are the months with traditionally the highest peaks?


MR. MacDONALD:  Correct.  We have a twin-peaking system in Ontario, winter and summer.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I would like you to refer to J‑5-116.  I believe that is a VECC interrogatory.  It's not an interrogatory of AMPCO, I don't think.  It is an interrogatory of Hydro One; an interrogatory of Hydro One.


It is ‑‑ I am looking at a table called, "Ontario One-Hour Peak Demand", and it shows actual one‑hour peak demand for 1999 to 2006, and then the weather corrected for the same period.


MR. CLARK:  We have it.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, if we're looking at the weather-corrected data for 1999 to 2006, I think you will see, and can you agree with me, that December's load was always higher than June's peak, and sometimes it was higher than also July and August?  Would you agree with me?


MR. MacDONALD:  Yes.  Sure.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Given that, can you explain to me why December was excluded from your consideration?


MR. MacDONALD:  We are proposing the concept of the peak period.  If under analysis there is a reason to exclude June and include December, then that would be, you know, the appropriate thing to do.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So you're not set on the five months you picked?


MR. MacDONALD:  We're set on the peak periods when the transmission system is loaded.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I just want to understand that.  Are you set on a five-month-based system?


MR. MacDONALD:  That's our recommendation.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So as opposed to, for example, adding December as the sixth one for consideration, you would necessarily replace it with one of the existing ones, if you felt it was appropriate?


MR. MacDONALD:  We could review the data and determine which is the most appropriate month, the point being determine which periods of time the transmission system is loaded and use those to determine when to encourage a load to take action, not during a period of time when the system is unloaded.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm just trying to understand if there's some magic to the number five, then, because you seem to be suggesting that the five months you picked could be interchangeable.  But you are still committed to five, and I don't understand why.


MR. MacDONALD:  We're committed to the peak period.  That's all I'm ‑‑ it doesn't necessarily have to be the number five.  It could be four.  It could be six.


MR. BUONAGURO:  When you say the peak period within a year, you mean some definable period of months as opposed to the rest of the year, and right now you think it is five, but it may not be five?  


MR. MacDONALD:  The fact that Ontario is a winter- and summer-peaking system, we should have a winter peak period and a summer peak period.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. RODGER:  Sit closer to the microphone.


MR. MacDONALD:  Yes, sorry.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Would you agree with me that the system design has to be able to carry the actual customer loads and not just the weather-corrected loads?


MR. MacDONALD:  We agree.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And looking at this same table, if you look at the actual values, I think you will agree with me that there are years where the March peak was higher than the February peak; correct?


MR. MacDONALD:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think there is -- the two that leap off the page to me is 2002 and 2006 ‑‑ sorry, 2005.  Would that suggest, for example, that March should also be included for the purposes of billing if February is?


MR. MacDONALD:  One moment.   


[Witness panel confers]


MR. MacDONALD:  When you look at the peak values in each of these months, one thing to note and to add to my previous answers is that the peaks that are occurring in March are still ‑‑ they may be higher than February, but they're not critical peaks on an annual system basis.  They're still fairly low transmission loading situations compared to what the annual peak is.


So we need to look at, rather than which month is higher, which ‑‑ how high the actual loading is compared to what the system capacity is.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm not sure if I'm qualified to get into this argument, but wouldn't that ‑‑ if you go down that road, aren't you then eliminating even your five-month consideration?  You're looking at the peak for the year, that that's the consideration?


MR. MacDONALD:  Basically, you want to ensure or limit the amount of free ridership available.  By having more than one CP, you are ensuring that a customer is actually consistently achieving demand reductions during those peak periods, and then, therefore, has not added to the coincident peak.  


If you went with one, the customer could have a scheduled down day or a two-week shutdown in August, you know, which might allow it to avoid a peak.  By going with five, you're getting consistent response from that customer.

In fact, our experience in New Jersey, where we are participating in a five CP methodology that is a summer peak only, between June and September, is that we need to curtail between 11 and 18 times, in our experience, to achieve reductions in what ends up, in hindsight, being the five critical peak periods.  


So we are curtailing.  We are actively managing.  We are providing benefits on 18 days rather than five.  We're lowering electricity costs and transmission loading on what are very high days, not necessarily peak days, in order to achieve this reduction.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, maybe you could just clarify what you mean by "we."  


MR. MacDONALD:  Pardon?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  You mean your company?  


MR. MacDONALD:  Our facility, yes, our company.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Look at J-13-1.  This is where we get into AMPCO directed interrogatories, so I think everything, I think it's everything above ten is an interrogatory that was directed at AMPCO.  


This would be a Hydro One interrogatory of AMPCO.  I am looking at page 3.   


MR. RODGER:  Tab 13, schedule 1, page 3?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  Tab 13, schedule 1, actually -- I'm looking off the PDF so it says page 1 of 3, but it is page 3 of the PDF.  So it's...


No.  I'm looking at page 1 of the interrogatory.  Sorry.  This is partly why I used the visual system, because in the PDF all of the Hydro One interrogatories are grouped under one PDF.


It's Exhibit J, tab 13, schedule 1 and it is third page, I guess.  


MS. NOWINA:  The pages aren't correctly numbered so maybe you could give us a heading, Mr. Buonaguro. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  The page I’m looking at – it starts, it's in the middle of a sentence, and it says:  customers -- on the basis of customers -- 


MS. NOWINA:  That's page 3 in, if you count the pages. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  You have listed on this page three options for rate design and billing determinants in the answer.  Can you tell me which one you're actually recommending to the Board?  


MR. MacDONALD:  We're actually recommending the second bullet, which is essentially the methodology that's used in the PJM market, our operations in New Jersey, that we have direct experience with operating under that sort of transmission rate design.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  On this page, you're recommending the one that starts:  "Hydro One bills 12 times per year based on January, February, June, July and August peaks in previous year"?  


MR. MacDONALD:  That's correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, going back to your evidence at page 3, lines 7 to 10.  This is where you're suggesting that the 85 percent factor -- I'm just going to call it the 85 percent factor, but it is the alternative current billing determinant, which looks at 85 percent of your non-coincident peak.  You're saying that impedes customer behaviour in terms of demand response.  


MR. MacDONALD:  Correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  I take it it is your expectation that eliminating that would primarily lead to more load shifting away from this time of system peak as opposed to load reduction?  


MR. MacDONALD:  I think it would lead to both.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  But the primary reason for eliminating that is to shift the load to different hours?  


MR. MacDONALD:  The primary reason for reducing the ratchet?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  


MR. MacDONALD:  Is to narrow the window, which is currently 12 hours a day, five days a week, 365 days a year, which is very -- a very broad window, which includes hours that are non-peak hours in shoulder months, et cetera, where it doesn't make sense to incent the customer not to use the system. 


MR. SALEBA:  And it is to shift load as well. 


MR. MacDONALD:  And it is to shift load as well.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  I think you've gone through this somewhat with Mr. Moran, but in terms of the current 85 percent of non-coincident peak determinant, and this is in reference to a response at J-11-3, part C, you can't tell us how AMPCO members' bills are actually impacted by the current system.  So you don't know how restricted your members are by this 85 percent ratchet.  


MR. MacDONALD:  Well, I can speak directly as a customer working underneath this ratchet.  And as we have pointed out, there is a problem when you have a -- set a peak very early in the month.  You no longer have any incentive to control your consumption beyond that point.  And if you were trying to minimize your coincident peak, you would need to curtail your operation for a 12-hour period, which is not practical for any large capital investment in the province to try and do.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  But with reference to the actual interrogatory, which is J-11-3, it's a VECC interrogatory of AMPCO.  You were asked at part C: 

"For 2006, please indicate the extent to which the transmission charges to AMPCO members connected directly to the transmission system were based on the customers' peak coincident with the system peak, versus 85 percent of the customers' non-coincident peak demand."  


Your answer was:  

"AMPCO does not have access to its members' or other large customers' detailed billing information."  


So from that, unless you can dig into your own company -- your own facilities' data, you can't quantify the impact as 85 percent ratchet.  Right?  


MR. MacDONALD:  I could speak on behalf of our own company.  I cannot tell you the way our other members are billed.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  So you can't actually quantify the impact overall?  


MR. MacDONALD:  No.  But I can tell you that there would be an incentive that does not exist today to customers to take more action than they are taking today.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  I would like to move on to pages 4 and 5 of your evidence.  This is where you introduce the results of the Navigant study on the effects of demand response during periods of high prices on overall market prices.  


Again, looking at the same interrogatory response, 

J-11-3, and specifically your part B answer, it appears that your understanding is that -- or sorry, your premise is if you remove the 85 percent criteria, that will encourage transmission customers to reduce their loads at time of system peak, which based on the Navigant study reduces commodity prices and benefits all to customers.  Is that a fair summary of your position?  


MR. MacDONALD:  Correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, perhaps you can confirm our understanding of the Navigant study, which was that it dealt with demand response programs, which are programs that reduce loads at times of high prices as opposed to shifting loads.  


MR. MacDONALD:  Well, the Navigant study actually looked at a specific amount of megawatts that reduced during a period of time when the price was about $120 per megawatt hour and defined what that result would be.  And so it doesn't necessarily need to be demand response program driven.  That sort of response and reduction in megawatts at the time of peak when you're in the steep part of the bid curve for the generators will have a large result in reducing the hourly energy price.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  But the focus was on reduction of load at the peak, as opposed to that second part which is reduction of load at peak, and specifically a reduction that's as a result of load shifting.  


So it's the difference between simply reducing load and reducing load and then shifting it somewhere else.  Those are two different propositions; right?  


MR. MacDONALD:  Correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  And my understanding of the Navigant study is that it dealt with that first part:  Reduction of the load at the peak.  


MR. MacDONALD:  Right.  But I believe what we're saying is that whether it is as a result of a load shift or a direct demand response, the megawatt reduced from the peak during that period of time when the price was $120 would have the same impact.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But you would agree with me that to the extent customers shift load from high-price times, the circumstances are different and the resulting savings may be different than simply reducing the peak at ‑‑ sorry, reducing load at the peak time?  


For example, shifting load from one hour to another may have an impact on the prices in the hour it shifted to increase prices; right?


MR. MacDONALD:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, the Navigant analysis, perhaps you can confirm ‑ I think you may have already done ‑ focussed on hours where prices exceeded 120 megawatts per hour; right?


Now, looking at J‑11-7 - again, that's a VECC interrogatory - you were asked to confirm the time period covered by this study, I guess in several different ways, and you told us several times that you couldn't confirm the time period for the study.


Looking at part E of your answer, though, you say:

"The report was published in April 2003.  AMPCO is not in a position to confirm the time period covered by the Navigant study."


Would it be fair to say that since the market opened May 1st, 2002 and the published date of the study was April 2003, it's likely that the period is May 1st, 2002 to sometime early in 2003?


MR. MacDONALD:  It's likely within that period.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.


Now, looking at J‑11-7 - oh, it's the same one - part F, you did an analysis from the period May 1st, 2002 to April 30th, 2002 and determined that hourly energy price exceeded 121 ‑‑ 120 megawatts and 541 hours.


Now, actually, I think if you look at the question, you were asked to look May 1st, 2002 to April 30th, 2003.  So would your reference to April 30th, 2002 in the response be a typo?


MR. MacDONALD:  I believe it is a typo.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So it should be April 30th, 2003 in response to that; right?


MR. MacDONALD:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thanks.  So in that period, your analysis said that the price exceeded 120 megawatts per hour and 541 months.  If you look at the following response, which is G, and you add up the hours ‑‑ see, you've indicated the hours that it exceeds in each month in the year, I think; right?


MR. MacDONALD:  Okay.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, if you look at the five months you've picked for your proposal, January, February, June, July and August, and you add up the hours that the price exceeded 120 megawatt ‑‑ $120 per megawatt in those months ‑ maybe you could take it subject to check ‑ you get 256 hours in those five months.  Would you take that?  You can do the math if you want.  I don't know how long it will take you.  We have 256 hours; right?


MR. MacDONALD:  Okay.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, that suggests to us, and perhaps you can agree with me, that your proposal for network billing determinants, insofar as it relates to reduction in prices, captures only half of the months ‑‑ sorry, only half of the job that you're trying to do by capturing only half of the hours where the price exceeded $120 per hour.


MR. MacDONALD:  I don't think we're trying to replace the demand response program for energy.  We're trying to provide a parallel signal for those energy prices when the transmission system is loaded.  So the high price may indicate that the transmission system is loaded somewhat, but not peak loaded, not to the point where you would like to actually encourage load to curtail.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But if you are trying to target hours where it is exceeding $120 megawatts per hour, in this time frame your proposal would have missed over half of those times?


MR. MacDONALD:  We're not targeting price here.  We're targeting when the transmission system is loaded.  So there is two different issues.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But you are advocating, as part of your proposal, that prices will come down; right?


MR. MacDONALD:  Agreed.  When you curtail, prices will come down.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.


MR. CLARK:  Do you mind if I throw in, Mr. 

Buonaguro --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.


MR. CLARK:  You're quite correct in what you have come up with here with respect to the spring of 2003.  The Navigant study was done in the first year, as you noted, and that's the year we're stuck with for Navigant study.  But, in fact, if you go back in the IESO documents, you will find the spring of 2003 was anomalous, because there were some issues with gas supply in that period.  


Normally, spring prices have not been what they have been in the spring of 2003.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So analysis may --


MR. CLARK:  That particular year there were some issues.  You can check with the market surveillance panel report.  I think you will find it there.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Could you provide me your understanding of what time of day the monthly system peak generally occurs?


MR. MacDONALD:  It depends on the time of year.  I mean, in the summertime you have an afternoon peak, and in the winter time you have peak early in the day and later in the day.  So it depends on ‑‑ it's weather driven.


MR. BUONAGURO:  My understanding is if you were to pick one hour during the day that it is most likely to be the system peak in any particular month, it would be 4:00 p.m.; is that generally fair?


MR. SALEBA:  That's certainly the case in the summertime.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.


MR. MacDONALD:  Right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  We will run with 4:00 p.m., if you don't mind.


Now, under your proposal, which could be characterized as a strict coincident peak billing proposal, you're saying that transmission customers can try to manage their load by shifting load to other hours of the day to avoid the time of the system peak; right?


MR. MacDONALD:  There is two possibilities.  They may be able to shift to another part of the day or they may have to just forego the production.


Many customers are running 24 hours a day and cannot make up that production.  So in that case, there is a much higher cost to curtailment, but there are two different possibilities there.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But to the extent they're able to shift load, what would make sense is to shift load away from, in this case, the 4:00 p.m. hour to try and get out of that hour?


MR. MacDONALD:  Agreed.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, again looking at J‑11-7, so it's the same one we've been looking at, and looking at response on page 4 of that, there's a table that shows the hours in the day where the hourly Ontario energy price was over 120 megawatts per hour.  Again, this is May 2002 to April 2003.  Do you see that?


MR. MacDONALD:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, you will see that throughout the day - I think it's true for every hour of the 24‑hour clock - there were incidents where the price spiked above 120 megawatts per hour; correct?


MR. MacDONALD:  It appears so, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And if you are looking ‑‑ starting around 7 o'clock in the morning, a number of times it happens; it starts to increase and it doesn't drop off materially until the evening, around 11 o'clock, I guess, 11 to 12 o'clock.  Would you agree with me?


MR. MacDONALD:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, this would suggest if a customer simply shifts load from the 4:00 p.m. peak that we've been talking about to, say, 10 o'clock in the morning, the load could still appear in what we call a high-priced hour, which would be an hour above 120 megawatts per hour; correct?


MR. MacDONALD:  This data is from very early on in the Ontario market.  I think if we were to look at a different data selection, we would see quite different pricing with today's resource scenario, the amount of generation available versus what was available the day we opened the market.


And there's been a number of market rule and -- changes that will have impacted the way that the prices look.  But I do agree with you, from this data set, that there are a number of hours above 120 within the typical day.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  So on this information, you agree with me that further study may show something different, for a particular hour?  


MR. SALEBA:  I think there is probably two salient points that might help on this.  One is that the savings of our proposal on the bulk power market is just an ancillary benefit.  What we're looking at here is the peak periods for transmission because that is what the issue is.  


The other thing is, you brought up a couple of times the five months or six months or four months, and we picked five because that was a PJM example.  And it's always nice to have some sort of a regulatory precedent for a proposal.  But in fact, we would fully expect that this issue be vetted through some kind of a collaborative process after the hearing is over.  Our higher principles are we want -- we think the ratchet is counterproductive and we want to narrow the period of time over which the charge is determined for billing determinants, but the actual implementation of that is something we think has to be worked out subsequent to the hearing.  


We understand there's a RRAM proceeding that is likely to succeed to hearing, and that might be a convenient time to look at this same issue.  And to be candid, we're play playing on somebody else's ball field and there is probably other issues that come to bear and other information that needs to be brought to bear on what the specific period is for the best and most efficient rate design here, but we wanted to air the proposal, get the higher principles established and hopefully approved with a view towards doing the details in a subsequent process.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  It sounds to me that you're raising the issue in hope the Board can give direction to looking at the issue, but you wouldn't actually expect out of this hearing a particular change?  


MR. SALEBA:  We would hope to have the higher principles approved by the Board with a view towards no ratchet and a narrow period of time over which to determine your billing determinants, to work the details out in a subsequent proceeding.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you for that clarification.  


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro, we should be aiming for a break soon.  Can you tell me how much longer you think you will be?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  It will go beyond a break.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Maybe I should take an estimate from you.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  I would guess I'm maybe half done.  Maybe a little less than half down.  


MS. NOWINA:  So another half hour?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  I haven't been keeping track.  About another half hour to 45 minutes. 


MS. NOWINA:  I'm going to guess a half hour.  All right.  I'm going to take an estimate of times now so we can plan our day then, then we will take a break.  


Mr. DeVellis, you won't have any questions?  


MR. DeVELLIS:  No.  Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rogers, how long do you think you will be?  


MR. ROGERS:  I'm going to control myself.  I'm going to say 30 minutes.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Ms. Lea?  


MS. LEA:  Likewise, but it may be reduced by my friend's cross-examination.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Rodger, do you expect much time in re-direct?  


MR. RODGER:  No.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We'll take a break now until eleven o'clock.  


--- Recess taken at 10:37 a.m.


‑‑‑ Upon resuming at 11:08 a.m. 


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


MR. LONG:  Madam Chair, with regard to time, give you some feedback with respect to our argument.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Mr. Long.  Your mike is not on.  Yes, it would be, but if you will just hold the thought for a moment, I understand from what I'm hearing during the break is a number of people want to give some feedback regarding argument.  


So we will do that now so we can have the benefit of your concerns and your proposals for us to consider later today, hopefully.


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


MS. NOWINA:  Before we do, I just wanted to make the point that we understand the schedule is tight, and so we're certainly willing to hear your concerns on that and to hear any of your creative ideas how to deal with it.


Pleas understand from the Board's point of view this isn't just a matter of booking hearing rooms or the three of us finding a day where we can be in a hearing.  It is a matter of us having adequate time to make a good decision on this case as well.  


We have a window of opportunity to work on this case, and the longer it gets drawn out, in terms of getting the evidence on the record and getting your submissions, the more we are squeezed at the other end.  And just as you think it is an important case and it requires your attention, so do we, and we're trying to preserve some opportunity for us to spend an adequate amount of time on it, as well.


So, with that as a bit of a preamble, I'm certainly willing to hear your concerns and your -- as I say, your creative ideas of how we might deal with this problem.  Mr. Long, if you want to deal with --


MR. LONG:  I'm not sure how creative these are, but there are some alternate dates that I could propose.  As with everybody else, this is the first I saw this this morning.  I have been trying to get a sense of how this might unfold for us.


Given that it is a long weekend this weekend -- and, you know, it's impossible for us to be ready by Tuesday, to be honest with you.  So what I was going to propose is some other dates that perhaps the panel could sit on.  Possibly Thursday, the 24th; Friday in the morning of the 25th.  I notice there is a half a day scheduled there for the OEB Staff; or Monday the 28th.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Long, we will look at it.


MR. RODGER:  Perhaps, Madam Chair, if I could go next?


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. Rodger.


MR. RODGER:  At the break, I did manage to speak with the AMPCO consultants about the schedule that you introduced at the outset of today's proceeding.  While we're always happy to assist the Board when we can, we do think it will be extremely difficult to do the job we want to do on this case in the time lines you have set out.  


As a number of people have noted, this has been a very complicated case.  There is a lot of evidence and we really feel that we do need an extra week, I think, to do the job that we need to do.


I know, Madam Chair, that the Board's preference is for oral submissions.  We would respectfully request that you reconsider that to allow us to put in written submissions.  That way we're not dependent on availability of hearing time of the Panel.  


If out of those written submissions you did want to ask questions of counsel, perhaps we could arrange one day to deal with those issues, which would be an option to provide clarification to the Board.  But we do feel that this is extremely tight, and we would ask you to consider that, an extra week.


Also, Ms. Lea provided me with a hard copy of an e‑mail from Mr. Warren, and I'm wondering if I could perhaps just read Mr. Warren's comments into the record, as well.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Mr. Rodger.


MR. RODGER:  Again, it is to Ms. Campbell and Ms. Lea from Robert Warren, and it reads as follows:

"I understand that the hearing panel is contemplating a schedule for argument that would have intervenors argue first on May 28th.  I believe that proposal is unreasonable for two reasons:  First, I think it is incumbent on Hydro One to set out its case first.  As you know, it has changed its position on a number of issues over the course of the hearing.  In addition, it has seemed uncertain of what relief it wants on others.  In the latter category, I use the example of the proposal for a rate‑setting mechanism for 2009 and 2010.  But even if there were not this wavering and imprecision, it strikes me as only fair that the applicant, who by statute bears the onus of proof, set out its case first.

Second, the proposed May 28th date gives us too little notice.  Had we known that the Panel was contemplating that date for argument, we would have prepared accordingly.  As it is, we have Dr. Booth's testimony on May 22nd and I have two days of hearing on another matter scheduled for May 24th and 25th.  That leaves me one working day to prepare my submissions, given that I have other commitments today. 

Accordingly, I suggest that Hydro One be required to make its submissions on May 28th, with intervenors to respond on June 4th.  That is a slippage of five working days in the proposed schedule, which does not seem unreasonable.  Just as important, it allows the intervenors to know precisely the case they have to meet."  


That was the e‑mail sent this morning from Mr. Warren.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.  Before going to you, Mr. Rogers, for comments on Hydro One's submission, can I ask if anyone else has any comments about this schedule or any suggestions on how we might handle...


MR. BUONAGURO:  I would support the comments of Mr. Rogers and Mr. Warren, generally.  With respect to the Society's jurisdictional question, I have sort of an inkling of -- I have an idea, based on what they were saying in the cross‑examination of a particular panel, what that issue is, but I don't ‑‑ unless I missed something while I was away, I don't have a very specific idea of what relief they're requesting.


So for them to argue on, I guess it was supposed to be Tuesday for the first time, without advance material, what it is that they want, what relief they're seeking, it seems a little short for me to then have to respond that afternoon. 


So I guess in considering the Society's request for a change in that date, as well, I would think that there might be some at least summary of what it is they're asking before that day, so if we're required to respond on the day, then we can have some preparation for that.  That is my only additional comment.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeVellis?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  I'm confused by Mr. Buonaguro's comments, because when I read the schedule initially, I thought that the Society would be presenting their jurisdictional argument and we would reply to it in our main argument, I suppose.


MS. NOWINA:  That's right.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I guess I read that wrong.


MS. NOWINA:  That's right.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Oh, that's correct?  Okay.  The only comment I would make is with respect to the -- I understand the Society's concerns, and I think perhaps an alternative way ‑‑ and I understand the Board's preference for oral argument, but perhaps the Society's argument is a jurisdictional, more of a legal point, maybe that could be in writing and that would give them a couple of extra days to prepare that, and we could respond during our argument.


With respect to the schedule generally, I concur with what my friends have said and what I said earlier today, that I just ‑‑ the schedule, I am concerned with the scheduling, and it's really ‑‑ my concern is we could all make our submissions today if we had to.  My concern is with the quality of the submissions.  


If we were forced to go on Monday, we would all be here and give our submission.  I just think we could be of more assistance to the Board if we had an extra week.  I am sensitive to the Board's scheduling difficulties, and if that extra week presents undue pressure for the Board, then I guess we're stuck with the 28th.  But I just think an extra week would be helpful for us and for the Board.


MS. NOWINA:  I understand.  Thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I can retract everything I said about the Society's argument.  I fundamentally misunderstood the intention.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. MacINTOSH:  Madam Chair, Energy Probe supports the comments from AMPCO as to scheduling.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.  Mr. Rogers, do you have any comments?


MR. ROGERS:  Well, we're content with the schedule you proposed this morning, in the format that you proposed this morning.  And I don't accept Mr. Warren's characterization of Hydro's case as being so uncertain.  I do concede that there have been some modifications in the case.  The issue about the revenue adjustment mechanism, I agree, is perhaps a little unclear, and there are a couple of other areas, too.  I know where the company's position has altered, one of which we discussed yesterday morning.


So if it was simply a matter of having Hydro One put in an argument-in‑chief just to buy everybody some time, I oppose that.  I am quite willing, however, to present an argument-in‑chief, an abbreviated form of argument-in‑chief, I suggest, where I clarify the areas where there is some ambivalence so that everybody knows exactly what my client is asking for.  


I think they do know it now, but there are a couple of modifications, I do concede.  I probably could do that in an hour of oral argument-in‑chief one day of your choosing.  But I don't intend ‑‑ I submit that it would be a waste of everybody's time for me to go and try to summarize the entire case and marshal all of the evidence to support every proposition until I know what the opposition is.  


I've seen that happen before, and, frankly, it is a waste of everyone's time.  So my proposal is that if you are sympathetic to Mr. Warren's e-mail, then I would suggest that I present an oral argument-in-chief one day, perhaps Monday May 28th.    I can have it done for that day, which will be a relatively brief summary.  Followed by the intervenors' arguments in any form that you choose.  I prefer oral, but I of course will go along with what you decide.  Followed by my argument in reply, which should be in the same form as the intervenors.  I would prefer oral.  But if it's to be in writing, then I should file mine in writing too, I suppose.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  Regarding Mr. Warren's comments, although I do understand that there may be some clarification of the application that might be helpful, we're certainly not going to order you to do anything in particular with argument-in-chief.  I think that is your call.  


So if you wish to have a brief argument-in-chief to make things clear for everyone else, that would likely be helpful.  


MR. ROGERS:  Quite willing to do that.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  


We will take this information and the panel will meet this afternoon.  We're assuming that we will not be sitting in the hearing room all day today, and see what we can do regarding the schedule and the suggestions you have made and be able to let you know as soon as possible.  


I think the one thing we need to say and I can say now is we wouldn't expect the submission on Tuesday regarding jurisdiction, but we probably would expect that fairly quickly thereafter.  We'll let you know hopefully later today, if not Tuesday, when that will be.  


MR. LONG:  Okay.  So that might be Thursday or Friday of next week?  


MS. NOWINA:  It might be, yes. 


MR. LONG:  That's extremely helpful for us. 


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  


MR. LONG:  We're prepared to do it in writing on that first argument of jurisdiction, if that is acceptable or a better process for everybody involved.  


MS. NOWINA:  Right.  We will consider that as well.  We need to sit back and consider all of these matters.  


MR. LONG:  Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  Why don't we go back to Mr. Buonaguro, then.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY Mr. Buonaguro, continued:  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  


I would ask you to turn up J-11-22, which is an interrogatory to AMPCO from VECC, and the response at B.  And our understanding of this response is that you would agree with me that customers that are planning to avoid the system peak will have to avoid more than just the traditional system peak hour in order to ensure their shifting and other customers' shifting don't simply create a system peak at a different hour.  Would you agree with that?  


MR. MacDONALD:  Could you rephrase the question, please?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  If you are customer and you have the ability, under presumably something like your proposal to benefit from a shifting of your load away from the system peak in a particular day, it's not that simple.  


You have to understand that there are complexities involved when shifting from that hour, because presumably other customers with the ability to shift are also shifting from that hour.  And you may have the effect of simply creating a new peak.  Right?  


MR. MacDONALD:  Generally, from our experience in participating in these kinds of, under this kind of program, you've got a pretty diverse load.  You've got a system peak, which peaks over a number of hours.  You may need to curtail for a two, three-hour period in order to make sure that you were off for let's say your 4 o'clock peak.  Sometimes it is four.  Sometimes it is five.  To ensure that you don't operate during that period of time, you would curtail for more than the one hour.  


And it becomes a predictable response from those customers.  You can watch the demand curve for the day, and take action.  

So you would have to have an incredible volume of load, pick the same hour to curtail and the same hour to come back on, in order to see that.  We haven't seen that in our experience.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Perhaps I can take you through some examples.  I don't think you have to turn this up, but in J-1-141, which is an interrogatory to Hydro One, they were asked to try to calculate the impact of load shifting.  For the purposes of that analysis, they assumed 500 megawatts of load shifting from the peak to somewhere else.  


So -- and this is where I can introduce my two exhibits, which I believe I gave to the Board Staff.  


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Lea, do you have exhibits from Mr. Buonaguro?  


MS. LEA:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair.  I was just consulting.  Mr. Buonaguro what are you looking for?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  I have two exhibits. 


MS. LEA:  Oh, yes, I certainly do have those exhibits, yes.  Which one did you wish to refer to first, sir?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  The first one will be the one that starts, that says "Table 2.3, actual and weather-corrected weekly peak demand." 


MS. LEA:  Thank you, I have it.  That will be Exhibit L10.2.  

EXHIBIT NO. L10.2:  Table 2.3, actual and weather- corrected weekly peak demand

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the one entitled "Ontario demand megawatts 2006 system peak day" will be the second one.  


MS. LEA:  And do you wish to use those together, sir, as one exhibit or do you wish them marked separately?  Does it matter?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  It doesn't matter.  


MS. LEA:  Let's make that Exhibit L10.3, Ontario demand megawatts, 2006 system peak day, is 10.3.  

EXHIBIT NO. L10.3:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED “Ontario demand megawatts, 2006 system peak day”


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, L10.2, shows, it let's you know what the peak day was in a particular period.  And as a matter of example, I have picked or we have picked July 17th, 2006.  


So if you look under week ending, if you go down to July 23rd, 2006 and go across, that is week number 29.  It indicates that in that period July 17th, 2006 was the peak day and the actual peak on that day was 25,898 megawatts.  Am I reading that correctly?  


MR. SALEBA:  That's correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  So that's actually all I need from that graph.  But the second graph looks at the actual that day.  It looks at July 17th, 2006 and it gives you a breakdown of the demand throughout the day, by hour.  


If you look at the total Ontario figure or column, which is the third column, and you go down to hour 16, you can find that figure, 25,898, which is around 4 o'clock, was the peak.  Right?  


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm not sure if you have been nominated by the panel to answer these questions. 


MR. SALEBA:  I can take those.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, in terms of load shifting, and we take the Hydro One assumption of 500 megawatts of load shifting, if you were a customer looking to achieve benefits under your proposal to shift your load from 4 o'clock to somewhere else, you look at the numbers just before and after it, and you've got hour 13, 25,638.  Hour 14, 25,805.  Hour 15, 25,816.  And the hour after that, 17, 25,731, which were all close or very close to the peak, in terms of kilowatts.  In fact, all within 500 megawatts. 


MR. SALEBA:  Correct. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  So if you are trying to avoid the peak, you can't just avoid four o'clock.  You have to avoid three o'clock, two o'clock, one o'clock, and five o'clock to be reasonably certain that you're not just moving your load into a new peak for the day; correct?  


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  That's part of the complexity we're talking about, I think; right?  


MR. MacDONALD:  That's right.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  And that -- so now you are talking about shifting load to avoid the peak.  You may actually be worried about shifting load out of all four of these or all five of these zones.  


MR. SALEBA:  It depends on the steepness of the peak, but under the assumption of 500 megawatts they would have to shift peak, if I could say, out three or four hours probably to avoid the charge.  But that's sort of the beauty of what we're suggesting.  You know, what we're suggesting that by eliminating the ratchet, you give the customer the option of trying to avoid the peak or not avoiding the peak.  It's the customer's problem.  If Darren can't hit the peak right and he shaves it at the wrong time, that's his problem.  He tried to avoid a peak.  He shut down.  He didn't save anything.  


So it's not like it is going to cost other customers something.  This is where you are giving customers an additional choice or incentive to shave load with no detrimental effect to anybody else.


MR. MacDONALD:  In fact, there is a benefit to all of the customers, because in avoiding all of those peak hours we will have electricity price decreases as a result of our action for that period of time.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, that's -- I think referred to that as ancillary benefit, and you went through some of that already; right?


MR. MacDONALD:  It is an ancillary benefit, but the idea here is to have a parallel incentive, one for transmission cost reduction and one for energy cost reduction.  The two of them together can be considered a larger economic incentive for the customer to do the right thing at the right time.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, but -- and, again, we talked about shifting out of hours that are over 128 megawatts ‑‑ sorry, $120 per megawatt into other hours that may have the same cost before, so I won't go over that again.


MR. MacDONALD:  I want to make a clarification on that, though, that there is two important considerations.  The $120 just happened to be the basis for Navigant's report.  It is not necessarily a magic number.


Whenever you reduce demand, you're reducing price, whether it's at $110 or $200, the point being, if you reduce load at $120 or above, you are on a very steep part of the demand curve, so you reduce energy costs quite a bit.


If you move that load to another period of time where the price is lower and you bring that load back on, you're at a flat part of the demand curve and the increase in energy price will be far smaller than it would have been in that peak hour.  That's an important distinction.


The other distinction is to make sure you understand most manufacturing is seven by 24.  If we give up an hour, we're giving that hour up.  We're not necessarily shifting that load to another period of time.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.


MR. MacDONALD:  There is two important distinctions.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  Sticking with the complexities, though, of shifting to gain the benefit and to avoid creating a new system peak, I think the answer I got from Mr. Saleba was that these complexities might further reduce the number of people who, although maybe have the ability to load shift, may not do it because of the complexities.


MR. SALEBA:  I didn't say that.  I think we have an example here where Darren has talked about his place shutting down for three or four hours to miss the one-hour peak.  You know better than I what your operations up here are like, but it seems like that same analogy could apply in Ontario.


MR. MacDONALD:  Basically, creating a mechanism like this would allow all kinds of entities to create the same opportunity.  Whether they're residential, commercial or industrial, they will have the same signal, the same opportunity to avoid the cost.  


The OPA could develop programs that are focussed on residential, commercial or industrial customers to do this type of load shift.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So you can shut down for three hours to avoid costs?


MR. MacDONALD:  All customers could, yes.


MR. SALEBA:  Our point is you can shut down even longer than that.  It is a matter of economics.  And the more incentive you can give somebody to shut down during that peak period, the more you're going to have try.


MR. CLARK:  If you look at programs such as Toronto Hydro's peaksaver or Hydro One's smart step program, you will find that those programs are designed to pick times when the system is at peak stress, and then to drop load for three, four hours.  There tends to be a four-hour limit on those curtailments.


So, yes, they're doing reductions for that period of time.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.  Now, the current billing determinants for network charges were approved in RP-1999‑0044; correct?


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And this is with reference to J‑11-8.  I believe AMPCO submitted in that proceeding ‑‑ I am reading from response 8 of that interrogatory:  

"AMPCO argued for a network charge determinant based only on the monthly peak without 85 percent ratchet."


So you argued for that back in I guess it was 1999.  I think I said earlier I wasn't a lawyer back then and people commented on that.


So the argument has been made before, at least in some form; right?


MR. SALEBA:  Correct?


MR. BUONAGURO:  And it was rejected in 2000, obviously?


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And presumably the position is is that -- from AMPCO, is that circumstances have changed since, then; right?


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I'm looking at J‑17-9, which is an interrogatory from Board Staff.  Your response to that interrogatory suggested to us that change that we're talking about is the fact that the transmission system is congested during the peak period for several months of the year, and pricing must encourage customers to use the system during non‑congested hours.


MR. MacDONALD:  I think there is a lot more to it than that.


There is -- basically, the difference between 1999 and 2007 is we didn't have hourly price signals at that point, so we were dealing with a market that had fixed pricing.  We didn't have ‑‑ so commodity price reductions weren't available by responding.  


We had no focus on demand response.  We had no concerns at that time about the generation adequacy that we do today, looking out over the next ten years, our generation deficit.  


We are in a completely different mind set right now.  The conservation culture in Ontario is driving us to look at new ways to reduce peak load and reduce the requirements for generation or transmission. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  I am looking at the response, and I understand your answer, but at least a good part of what you're talking about here, and I am reading directly from your response:  

"It is AMPCO's position that given the need for significant future transmission investments, as stated in Ontario's integrated power system plan, discussion plan number 5, transmission, rate design must be based on cost causation and it must provide a correct price signal to encourage reduced usage of the transmission system during peak periods."


So that relates transmission system congestion with price signals, encouraging customers to use the system during non‑congested hours; right?


MR. MacDONALD:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, our understanding is that you see the need for congestion payments as one of the indicators that the system is under stress.


MR. SALEBA:  That was one I threw out, as opposed to getting into an esoterical discussion about transmission constraints on the system.  It seemed like the proof is in the pudding.  If there's hundreds of millions of dollars of congestion charges being paid up each year, there must be something going on some place on the transmission system.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, has AMPCO done an analysis of how congestion on the transmission system has changed since market opening?


MR. CLARK:  No.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Have you looked at which months of the year there is transmission congestion?  


MR. CLARK:  We haven't looked at that directly.  I believe the market surveillance panel does that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me whether you know whether congestion payments occurred in 2006 during all months of the year?


MR. CLARK:  Congestion payments occur every day of the year.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Every day of the year?


MR. CLARK:  There are a number of drivers for congestion payments.  Transmission is obviously one of the biggest ones.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Have you looked at what hours of the day the system is typically congested?


MR. CLARK:  No.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I think this relates to Mr. Saleba's earlier comments on this. 


When you were talking about congestion with I think it was Mr. Moran, were you referring to CMSC payments, congestion management settlement credits? 


MR. CLARK:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  It's our understanding, and perhaps you can confirm, that these types of payments deal with more than just transmission congestion.


MR. CLARK:  Yes.  The IESO will tell you that most of them relate to transmission congestion issues.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, for example, they deal with the difference between ramp rate assumption and reality, another issue that has recently come up with the Board.


MR. CLARK:  That's correct.  They also deal with transmission losses and transmission capacity constraints.  They deal with intertie constraints.  


Part of my work is with the IESO technical panel.  My understanding is that most of the transmission, the congestion management settlement credits, ultimately come back to transmission issues. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you know how much of the credit is due to transmission?  


MR. CLARK:  I don't know the exact percentage.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  These questions are for Mr. Saleba specifically.  


MR. SALEBA:  Okay.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  And it is, I think it is actually similar to what some of Mr. Moran did, but I have to go through it because I'm not sure if he covered exactly what I was covering, or not.  So if there is some overlap, please forgive me, but it is not that long.  


Referring to page 7 of your evidence. 


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I'm not there yet.  Hold on a second.  You start talking at line 7 about the principles to be used in doing cost allocation.  


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Correct?  Okay.  Thank you.  


And we understand you would consider cost causality to be an overarching principle with respect to cost allocation. 


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  And then moving on to page 8 of the evidence, starting at line 6, there you're talking about rate design and the principles to be used in rate design; right?  


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  That's not necessarily the same as the principles for cost allocation. 


MR. SALEBA:  Cost causation is one of seven or eight principles in rate design which we look at.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  And then with reference to our interrogatory J-11-18, in that interrogatory, I think you say - I can summarize for you - you would acknowledge that there are many considerations to be taken into account in the design of transmission rates and that cost causality is just one of them?  


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Looking at page 11 of your evidence, taking into account what you said in the interrogatory response, you would see following cost allocation through to ratemaking is still particularly important?  


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, you refer -- and the reference is in your evidence would be page 10 -- you refer to the FERC guidelines.  


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  And you use the FERC -- the discussion with respect to FERC precedents, you use that in terms of determining appropriate consequent peak measures for purposes of cost allocation. 


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  


And referring back to J-11-12, which is a VECC interrogatory to you, it would appear that you place a fair amount of weight on the FERC as a precedent and guideline, partly due to the fact it has been applied in many hearings in many jurisdiction beings. 


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.   In the area of cost allocation, yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  It is our understanding that precedents have been cited in other Canadian proceedings. 


MR. SALEBA:  Certainly.  FERC is widely quoted on transmission issues.  They have had a rich regulatory history on transmission costing and pricing for ten years.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, referring to J-13-9 which is an interrogatory to you from Hydro One.  I would ask you to turn that one up so you can look at it.  


MR. SALEBA:  Yes, I'm with you. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  You're ahead of me.  


MR. SALEBA:  Maybe the old-fashioned way is quicker.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  In this particular case, I have to agree with you, but I blame AMPCO.  


So these are a number of results reported with respect to cost allocation; right?  


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  And the results, perhaps you can confirm, support a 12-month consequent peak system for cost allocation purposes.  


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.  There are four tests to determine whether one CP or three or 12 should be used for cost allocation purposes.  We applied those four tests to the Hydro One load data and in the three that we could calculate, because we had enough data, all three tests indicated 12 CP was the proper cost allocation approach for Hydro One based on the FERC test.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, looking at J-11-15.  


MR. SALEBA:  I don’t have that.  I have to get some help.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  It's a short response?  Have you got it there?  


MR. SALEBA:  Yes, got it. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Your response to the question is: 

"VECC is correct in stating that the customers will react to the rate design and billing determinants.  While theoretically the billing determinants and cost allocation factors should be the same, that is not always practical.  As such, the allocation factors and the billing determinants are not always the same."  


Based on your response, would we be correct in stating that cost causality considerations would suggest that rate design for network transmission service should also be based on a 12 coincident peak system to the extent practical?  


MR. SALEBA:  Well, to make sure we're clear on nomenclature, the cost of service is the science and that's where cost causation governs.  When you take cost of service results down to rate design, you have to incorporate the other seven or eight or nine Bondbright principles in coming up with proper rate design.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  But to the extent practical?  


MR. SALEBA:  Well, practical, proper.  I think those would be proper qualifiers.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  You start from 12 CP and then there may be other factors that force you out of that. 


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  But that's where you start?  


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, I'm looking at 

J-11-9.  


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  If you look at the question, it asks the question:  

"Does Mr. Saleba have any recommendations as to specifically what billing determinant Hydro One Networks should adopt for network charges?  For example, 12 CP based on the customers' monthly peak at the time of the monthly transmission peak or one CP based on the customers contribution to the annual peak.  If yes, please outline what the recommendations are and the reasons behind them."  


The response -- and maybe we're reading too much into this but you can tell me -- refers us back to AMPCO number 1, sub 2, which we understand to be a response from AMPCO and not necessarily from you.  


So the question is, what would your recommendation be for the number of months of consequent peak that should be used for the billing determinant for Hydro One Networks facilities?


MR. SALEBA:  Fair enough.  To clarify, the scope of my testimony was to review generally accepted practice for transmission and rate design, to opine on the cost allocation for Hydro One, and then to layout the guiding principles for rate design for Hydro One.  


I don't profess to be the Ontario expert on government policy and on how manufacturing people operate.  And for that reason, I established higher principles which my friends then took and developed into a specific proposal.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  So you have no position?  


MR. SALEBA:  I did not research all of the different policy aspects in the rate design enough to have an informed opinion.  I will say, though, based upon what my friends have come up with, that it passes all the higher standards, the guiding principles in rate design.  So from that standpoint I feel they're proper.  But I'm not in a position to opine on the veracity of what they know about manufacturing in Ontario.  I think that is something you have to talk to the other witnesses about.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  So on this issue, despite what you might -- I think you were saying the attractiveness of your position, you aren't providing an expert opinion? 


MR. SALEBA:  The expert opinion is on the guiding principles for rate design and I feel that the proposal which AMPCO has in this area meets the guiding principles for rate design in a proper fashion.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I have just a few more questions for you, Mr. Saleba.  


At pages 17 and 18 of your evidence, you refer to a number of billing practices in other jurisdictions.


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I would like to deal with two of them.  With respect to BCTC --


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- which you referred to on page 18, can you confirm that their network charge is based on the customers' peak at the time of the monthly transmission fee, i.e., the 12 CP?


MR. SALEBA:  Yes, it is.  They use what's called the load ratio method where they figure out the BCTC revenue requirement for a year, divide it by 12, and then split that up among the transmission users based upon load ratios where the load ratio is calculated on the CP for that month.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that rate charged to large industrial customers who are transmission connected, the same type of customers we're talking about in terms of ‑‑


MR. SALEBA:  Yes, same arrangement.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you provide the tariff schedule that verifies that?  Is that something you can do?


MR. SALEBA:  I can.  I have that.  I have an antedated version of that.  It looks like it is schedule 00.  It is a BCTC tariff entitled "Network Integration Transmission Services."


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that part of the record or is that something you have there?


MR. SALEBA:  I just have it in my hand here.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Perhaps we can get that produced for the record.


MS. NOWINA:  Can you provide that?


MR. SALEBA:  Yes, I can.


MR. BUONAGURO:  The tariff that confirms that.


MS. NOWINA:  Can we take an undertaking?


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  K10.1.  Can you repeat the name of the document, sir?


MR. SALEBA:  Yes, I can.  It is entitled, "Network Integration Transmission Service, Schedule 00", and it is a tariff for the B.C. Transmission Corporation.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  That undertaking is for AMPCO.

UNDERTAKING NO. K10.1:  AMPCO TO PROVIDE DOCUMENT ENTITLED "NETWORK INTEGRATION TRANSMISSION SERVICE, SCHEDULE 00", TARIFF FOR THE B.C. TRANSMISSION CORP.

MR. SALEBA:  One point of clarification.  It says the availability here is for wholesale transmission, which would be the -- Fortis BC people and New Westminster and BC Hydro are the three wholesale customers, but the schedule 1821 industrial customers, which is the equivalent of the large users here that have generation, also pay for this for all of their spot transactions and their buy/sells out of their cogen.  So it is applicable to wholesale, but it is also applicable to anybody.  It is an independent power producer in BC.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  The other one that you referred to is the MISO, which I believe is called the Midwest ISO?


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you confirm whether Manitoba Hydro is a member of the MISO?


MR. SALEBA:  Oh, I can't.


MR. BUONAGURO:  You can?


MR. SALEBA:  Cannot.  I thought it was -- I don't know.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.


MR. SALEBA:  That's something I could provide, subject to check, also, if you want.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Could you look into it?


MR. SALEBA:  Sure.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And could you confirm, while you are doing that, whether there are any other Canadian utilities as a member?


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.  Of any other ISO or the MISO?


MR. BUONAGURO:  The MISO.


MR. SALEBA:  Sure.


MS. LEA:  Undertaking K10.2, Canadian membership in the MISO.

UNDERTAKING NO. K10.2:  AMPCO TO PROVIDE CANADIAN COMPANIES WITH MEMBERSHIP IN THE MISO AND METHOD OF BILLING.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am going to add to that.  I have just a couple of more parts to that while you're looking that up.


If you could check, assuming that is true that Manitoba Hydro is a member of the MISO, and assuming it is the only Canadian utility as part of the MISO, if you could confirm how transmission-connected industrial customers in Manitoba Hydro services are billed, i.e., are they billed by the MISO, and, if not, how they are billed?


MR. SALEBA:  I will check.  I don't know, but I will find out.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Okay, great.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. ROGERS:

MR. ROGERS:  Good morning, gentlemen.  My name is Dan Rogers and I represent the applicant in this case.


MR. SALEBA:  Good morning.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Saleba, just starting with you very briefly, if I could.  I gather from what you've just said that you were retained by AMPCO to provide advice about Hydro One's cost allocation and its rate design proposal?


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You have reviewed in detail all of their cost allocation methodologies?


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  That's what you refer to as the science?


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  And you agree that they've got that right?


MR. SALEBA:  I think the science is good.


MR. ROGERS:  Where you disagree is in the second phase; that is in the art part of this equation?

MR. SALEBA:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Which is the rate‑setting?


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Which is a matter of judgment?


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  And you acknowledge that my client has a responsibility to all of its customers to be fair in its rate design proposals?


MR. SALEBA:  I acknowledge that.


MR. ROGERS:  And that that is part of the judgment that they apply to this case?


MR. SALEBA:  That is the Hydro One judgment, correct.


MR. ROGERS:  All right, thank you.  Now park that and we will come back to you in a few moments.  Thank you very much.


Mr. Clark?


MR. CLARK:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Can you tell me, sir, what portion of the evidence did you write?


MR. CLARK:  The bit on the load forecast, specifically.


MR. ROGERS:  And on the network charge?


MR. CLARK:  This was some time ago, so I'm not sure I didn't edit any others.


MR. ROGERS:  You don't remember what you wrote?


MR. CLARK:  I said I may have edited others.  I know I wrote the bit on the load forecast.


MR. ROGERS:  What parts did you actually write yourself, sir?


MR. CLARK:  I actually wrote the evidence on the load forecast.


MR. ROGERS:  Who wrote the evidence on the network charge determinants?


MR. SALEBA:  I did.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Saleba?


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.  I can't say I did it all, but I did most of it.


MR. ROGERS:  I'm talking about the part -- there's two portions to this evidence.  There is a discrete exhibit that you filed, testimony of Gary Saleba.  I know you wrote that, Mr. Saleba.  Did you also write the portion on the networks charge determinants in the first piece of evidence, which starts off, "about AMPCO, filed February 14th, 2007"?


MR. CLARK:  The part "about AMPCO"?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. CLARK:  That represents a collaborative effort.  I believe I wrote the first draft of that.


MR. ROGERS:  You're essentially the one that wrote this paper, I take it, Mr. Clark, are you, the first piece?


MR. CLARK:  I would have written the introduction, as well as the part on the load forecast.


MR. ROGERS:  That's fine.


MR. CLARK:  When you get into the technical aspects of rate design, cost allocation, no.


MR. ROGERS:  That's fine.  Now, I see from this evidence, and I'm talking about the AMPCO evidence, "about AMPCO filed February 14th, 2007", which you wrote, do you see that?  I see that:

"AMPCO is a consumer interest advocacy organization, which serves the interests of Ontario's major electricity-consuming industries."


MR. CLARK:  That is correct.



[Fire alarm sounds]


MS. NOWINA:  We've gone to get our Fire Marshal.  He will let us know whether or not we should vacate.  This is the first ring.  There is a second one which we normally vacate at.  We will just wait a minute and see what happens.


MS. LEA:  I will do some investigation as well.  I think Mr. O'Dell is away.


MS. NOWINA:  Let's go ahead, Mr. Rogers, if we can.  Sorry for the interruption.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is it something you said, Mr. Rogers?


MS. NOWINA:  It was the fire in your presentation.


[Laughter]


MR. ROGERS:  So, Mr. Clark, what was your answer?


[Laughter]


MR. CLARK:  Mr. Rogers, what was your question?


MR. ROGERS:  Let me look.  The point is this, sir, that AMPCO is a self-professed advocacy group for large industrial electricity consumers, is it not?  


MR. CLARK:  That is its role. 


MR. ROGERS:  You are a consultant to that advocacy group. 


MR. CLARK:  That is correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  Do you consider yourself to be an advocate for that same cause?


MR. CLARK:  I consider myself to be a consultant of that group.  I have other clients as well. 


MR. ROGERS:  I appreciate that.  But in it particular -- are you acting as an advocate for your client?


MR. CLARK:  Yes.  


MR. ROGERS:  Okay.  Thank you.  There is nothing sinister about that. 


MR. CLARK:  I hope not.  


MR. ROGERS:  Now, I have looked at your qualifications and I want to talk to you about them briefly.  This deals with the load forecasting criticisms that you have of my client.  


MR. CLARK:  Certainly.  


MR. ROGERS:  Your curriculum vitae has been filed as Exhibit L10.1 and I reviewed it carefully, Mr. Clark.  I don't believe you have ever acted as a load forecaster for a large transmission company, have you?  


MR. CLARK:  I have never claimed to be a load forecast consultant, nor have I. 


MR. ROGERS:  You agree with me that load forecasting is a very particular discipline?  


MR. CLARK:  I believe there is only probably two people in the province that can do it. 


MR. ROGERS:  I'm afraid to ask you who they are.  I'm hoping I know one of them.  


MR. CLARK:  I think we both know one of them. 


MR. ROGERS:  We agree Mr. But is an expert in this area. 


MR. CLARK:  I agree that Mr. But is an expert on load forecasting, yes. 


MR. ROGERS:  It is a highly complex exercise. 


MR. CLARK:  Yes, it is. 


MR. ROGERS:  And extremely important to the applicant in this case, or to any utility. 


MR. CLARK:  And to the customers, yes, sir. 


MR. ROGERS:  Of course, and to the customers.  


You, yourself, you acknowledge you have no experience whatsoever in load forecasting for transmission company companies, do you? 


MR. CLARK:  I think no experience at all would be a bit of a stretch.  I had some 23 years with Ontario Hydro and I had to deal with load forecasts.  I was, at different times, managing planning exercises including manager of distribution planning.  And I also had different zonal planning and responsibilities.  


Was I a load forecaster?  No.  


MR. ROGERS:  But as a manager within Ontario Hydro, you depended upon the load forecast.  


MR. CLARK:  Yes, I did.  


MR. ROGERS:  And the load forecast is used for many purposes within Ontario Hydro, Hydro One, is it not?  


MR. CLARK:  Absolutely.  


MR. ROGERS:  It's used for the purpose of forecasting revenue?  That's what we've been focussing on here in this case.  


MR. CLARK:  That's one.  


MR. ROGERS:  But it is also used for a host of other functions that this company must perform; is that not true?


MR. CLARK:  Certainly.  You have to project load on devices, stresses, and all that sort of thing. 


MR. ROGERS:  Absolutely.  So if the company is wrong in its load forecasting, it has impacts far beyond the simple revenue requirement; it affects the whole reliability of its system.  Correct?  


MR. CLARK:  That would be correct.  Although today the load forecaster also relies on the IESO.  


MR. ROGERS:  Well, not entirely, I suggest to you.  Doesn't Hydro One, don't their...


[Fire alarm sounds]


MS. NOWINA:  I think we better adjourn.  Until we get to a second stage alarm, why don't we carry on.  If we get to a second stage alarm, it is a faster beep and then we will immediately adjourn.  


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Clark. 


MR. CLARK:  Yes.  


MR. ROGERS:  You will agree with me, I'm sure, that a corporation like Hydro One uses its load forecasting for many other very important essential functions other than rate-setting. 


MR. CLARK:  I do. 


MR. ROGERS:  And the corporation is -- has a keen and vital interest in ensuring that that load forecast is as accurate as it can be? 


MR. CLARK:  I would hope so.  


MR. ROGERS:  For example, if it’s wrong on the low side, it could have quite serious implications for the operation of its system, couldn’t it?  


MR. CLARK:  If it's very low below its capacity, yes.  


MR. ROGERS:  And it could have very serious implications on the expansion of its system on a localized basis.  


MR. CLARK:  You could end up either under or over-invested. 


MR. ROGERS:  And you could -- that's right; and you could also, for example, if Mr. But was wrong in his estimate of demand, you could overload circuits and equipment and cause outages for customers.  


MR. CLARK:  Yes, that's theoretically possible.  Operationally you don't tend to look at the load forecast every single year when you're maintaining a station or... 


MR. ROGERS:  Well, you would look at to see whether -- I'm sorry.  I'm sorry, I didn't mean to interrupt you. 


MR. CLARK:  If you're saying, for example, if you're working on protection settings, which are one of the critical ones for maintaining the stability of the system, you don't tend to look to the load forecast for that.  You tend to look to your historical. 


MR. ROGERS:  How about a transformer station for example, serving the City of Toronto?  Wouldn't the load forecast forecast the demand on that piece of equipment?  


MR. CLARK:  Yes.  You would particularly look at that in say a place like Vaughan where you may be growing a little more than Toronto. 


MR. ROGERS:  If Mr. But is wrong and he is too low, it could cause an interruption of service to that customer, or that municipality or that area, couldn't it?  


MR. CLARK:  I'm not aware of any station outages that resulted from a faulty load forecast.  I have been aware of places where the load forecast has been incorrect and you've had to make it up by accelerating investments. 


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  So investments are a factor. 


MR. CLARK:  I wouldn't -- I don't think the load forecast and operations are so tightly tied that, you know, a bad forecast is going to lead to a station outage in any particular year.  There’s a little more slack in the system than that, I would suggest.  


MR. ROGERS:  You think there is a lot of extra capacity in the system, do you?


MR. CLARK:  No.  I would say you've got built-in -- I wouldn't call them cushions, but you've got built-in margins to your equipment design and your system design that if you end up wrong in any given year -- and you're always -- the only thing you know about a forecast is it's wrong.  


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you for that concession. 


MR. CLARK:  That's true of all forecasts. 


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Thank you for that concession as well. 


MR. CLARK:  How much is the question. 


MR. ROGERS:  If you're wrong eight years in a row, that could have serious implications for expansion plans, or augmentation of the system, couldn't it?


MR. CLARK:  Absent any other calibration, yes, it could. 


MR. ROGERS:  So that the utility has a very important interest in ensuring that this forecast is correct, as correct as it can be.  


MR. CLARK:  I'm comfortable with the motivations of the utility.  


MR. ROGERS:  Now, your main complaint about the load forecast is the weather correction process, and you have also got a complaint about the CDM assumption.  Correct?  


MR. CLARK:  That is correct.  


MR. ROGERS:  Let's just deal with the first very briefly. 


MR. CLARK:  Yes.  


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. But did explain that there have been, it is quite so, that eight years in a row have occurred on one side of the divide.  


Now, you're not a statistician, are you?


MR. CLARK:  No.  But I have a good education in statistics.  I understand -- 


MR. ROGERS:  That's a matter of --


MR. CLARK:  -- I do understand normalization processes. 


MR. ROGERS:  Pardon?


MR. CLARK:  I understand what normalization means. 


MR. ROGERS:  I didn't say you didn't.  But you told us this morning that there is a, I don't know, one in 2000 chance or it could only happen once in 2000 years you could be wrong eight times in a row. 


MR. CLARK:  Yes. 


MR. ROGERS:  How do you explain the fact that Mr. But has said this has happened before?  


MR. CLARK:  Mr. But introduced some information yesterday that we hadn't heard before which was that I believe back in somewhere around the '80s, there had been a case where it had gone over, I believe the answer was six years in a row, not eight years.  Secondly, he said that the difference was about 17 megawatts on average versus the 438 we're discussing here, which is much larger.  


If you look at 17 megawatts on a 20,000 megawatt system, that's below the accuracy threshold of your meters.  That is actually zero.  


MR. ROGERS:  Oh, so those years were zero, so he was right, he was spot on in those years? 


MR. CLARK:  I would say that if you're looking at the certainty of your measurements, if you're saying there is a 17 megawatt average difference over eight years, over six years, then you're saying they were pretty much spot on.  It could have been slightly over, it could have been slightly under in those.  We're not talking about 17 or 20 megawatts here.  We're talking about 400.  That's a lot of difference and that's a lot of change for the customers.


MR. ROGERS:  I see.  What is your proposal, that they use ten years' experience?


MR. CLARK:  Okay.  You've brought up that I'm not an expert on load forecasting, so you're asking me for a proposal in an area that we have both established I'm not an expert in.  So I am going to give that preface.


MR. ROGERS:  With that preface ‑‑


MR. CLARK:  I have --


MR. ROGERS:  You're willing to give the answer?


MR. RODGER:  Let the witness answer the question, Mr. Rogers.


MR. CLARK:  I would just like to complete.  I will not prescribe exactly what a solution might look like.


I can tell you that totally by coincidence, I have also been looking at the Toronto Pearson data, which Mr. But corrected us on yesterday as being the one that is used for weather correction.  And I had run curves several weeks ago sort of idly fumbling around with this stuff, and it would indicate that if you went to a 10‑year, you would probably be a lot closer to the mark.  


But I can't say that with certainty, because there are other possible sources of bias other than simply weather correction.  It could, for example, relate to an incorrect guess about the behaviour of customers during high peak times, or it could be an incorrect estimate or out-of-date information on the efficiency of appliances, for example. 


MR. ROGERS:  I agree with that.  It's a very complicated process.


MR. CLARK:  It is a complicated process and I 

wouldn't ‑‑


MR. ROGERS:  So you wouldn't recommend a change be made simply on the evidence that we have without further scrutiny?


MR. CLARK:  I would suggest to you that the evidence of eight years of increasing differences all on one side indicate a bias that needs to be looked at.


MR. ROGERS:  You don't suggest that the Board make that adjustment based on the evidence you presented here, do you?


MR. CLARK:  No.  I would suggest the Board direct a process to get to a different way.  


There are other load forecasts for Ontario that are out there, as well, and they seem to be performing a little better.


MR. ROGERS:  I understand.  I may be wrong, but you would recommend that the Board have some kind of process next year, say in 2008 or so, to look at this whole question of weather adjustments and load forecasting?


MR. CLARK:  I don't know that we have to wait that long.


MR. ROGERS:  If the Board was planning to do that in its business plan, would you agree that that would be the appropriate way to deal with this issue?


MR. CLARK:  I think it depends on the number of months before you actually set the charge determinants on this.  I think there is ample time for, say, the IESO and Hydro One to look at the differences between the load forecasts they've got and why they seem to produce different results and different weather corrections.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, I understand, and I may wrong, but from the Board's business plan, that there's a scheduled review of weather normalization for utilities scheduled for 2008.  Now, I assume it applies to electricity as well as gas.  Now, if that is so, wouldn't it make more sense to wait until that is done before any changes be contemplated?


MR. CLARK:  I'm not sure on that issue, quite honestly.


MR. ROGERS:  I see.  Okay.  Let's move on, then, and talk just for a moment about your complaint about the CDM.  I think we can do that by looking at your page 10 of your testimony.


MR. CLARK:  Yes, sir.


MR. ROGERS:  Now, you have been through this and I'm not going to take too long with this, Mr. Clark.  We went through this quite a bit yesterday with Mr. But.


MR. CLARK:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  But as I understand your proposition, it is that Mr. But's assumption of 675, a demand reduction --

[Fire alarm sounds]


MR. CLARK:  I hope we get to finish this time.


MR. ROGERS:  I'm sure everyone does.  


You complained that really he should be taking more off ‑‑ no, sorry, less off this year for 2007 than he proposes?


MR. CLARK:  Yes.  My argument is that the 1,350 megawatt target was set back in, I believe, November-December 2003.  A number of actions and programs have been initiated since then, some of which were in place before 2006 and having effect before 2006.  


And yet Mr. But's forecast, the Hydro One forecast - I don't know that Mr. But actually prepared all that bit - places all of that accomplishment in 2006 in 2007, which, if you think about it, would tend to depress the forecast relative to ‑‑ it doesn't incorporate it in the base year, which in this case is 2005.


MR. ROGERS:  I understand.  Let's just look at his table.


MR. CLARK:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Now, for your proposition to apply, that is to motivate the Board to reduce his load forecast by the 220 megawatts -- that's what you want them to do, isn't it, for 2007?


MR. CLARK:  That was an estimate I made, yes.


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  We would have to assume a number of things, I believe.  First of all, we would have to assume that the original estimate of the 1,550 that was made by the government, I guess, to 2008 was accurate; right?


MR. CLARK:  I agree with that, yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Then you would have to assume that the Conservation Bureau estimate of 950 megawatts shown on your table for 2006, that that was accurate?


MR. CLARK:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Because they say that 950 megawatts was saved in 2006.  Then we would have to assume that that 950 megawatts is net of natural conservation?


MR. CLARK:  Yes.  And I should make a correction there.  May I?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. CLARK:  When Mr. But discussed this yesterday, his argument was that natural conservation was not a part of the 1,350 megawatts.  When I wrote this, I had actually been working with the OPA at the time.  I had asked, and my understanding was that natural was included in the 1,350, because a lot of natural conservation is part of this culture of conservation that the Chief Conservation Officer has as part of its duties.


Yesterday, when I heard Mr. But's testimony, I checked again with the OPA, and their current interpretation is that the 1,350 does not include it.  So this would probably require some adjustment.


MR. ROGERS:  Oh, thank you very much, sir, for your candour.  So the 1,350 does not include the natural conservation?


MR. CLARK:  That is correct.  So I require another look at this table, to be quite straight with you.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, yes.  Yes, indeed.  Thank you.


Now, Mr. But has assumed a 675 megawatt reduction in each of the two years, 2007 and 2008?


MR. CLARK:  That is correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And his evidence has been ‑‑


MR. CLARK:  Sorry, 2006 and 2007.


MR. ROGERS:  I beg your pardon.  Yes, thank you.  And his evidence - uncontradicted, I believe, and unchallenged - is that his forecast using that assumption is tracking very, very well.  Did you hear that evidence?


MR. CLARK:  His forecast with respect to total load?


MR. ROGERS:  I understand your complaint about his weather adjustment, but his weather-adjusted forecast, I understood him to say, is tracking very well for 2006 and for the first quarter of 2007, using his assumption about demand management reductions.


MR. CLARK:  I did hear him say that.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, Mr. Saleba talked about the proof of the pudding being in the eating.  Doesn't that fact -- isn't that the proof of the pudding right there, to support his assumption?


MR. CLARK:  I don't know the facts of his assumption, because, honestly, I heard that for the first time tomorrow (sic).  I have not seen first quarter data for 2007.  


I do know that the weather-corrected demand -- weather corrected for 2006 Ontario demand came in at about, I believe, 152 megawatts above what was originally forecast.  Now, that's weather corrected using the methodology we've just discussed.  So I'm not sure that I would necessarily agree with Mr. But that he is tracking as well as he thinks he is.


MR. ROGERS:  Maybe not.  But if the Board accepts that he was telling them the truth, that would be proof that his assumption is a reasonable one, wouldn't it be?


MR. CLARK:  I think we're confusing fact and opinion here.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, do you have any empirical evidence, such as Mr. But's load forecast tracking, that would support your proposition?


MR. CLARK:  Mr. But's load forecast tracking -- and we're getting to the core of the argument here, is that Mr. But's forecast tracking is tracking a weather normal forecast against a weather-adjusted result.  


We just had a lengthy discussion that the weather adjustment of the result is -- there's strong evidence that it is consistently bringing down the result lower than it should be.  So I would argue that while he has that strong opinion, and his percentage change in demand is probably pretty close to bang on -- and I don't argue with that at all, he's a good forecaster; but his weather correction process does not necessarily mean that he's being effective at producing an accurate forecast of actual demand.  


So I am sorry if we disagree on this, but we do.  


MR. ROGERS:  We're talking about the CDM assumption at the moment.  


MR. CLARK:  Well, the CDM assumption is buried in the whole thing, so how do you know?  


MR. ROGERS:  Well, proof is in the pudding. 


MR. CLARK:  You're getting to the difficulty.  This is a few hundred megawatts here and there.  


MR. ROGERS:  I agree.  I agree with that. 


MR. CLARK:  But they do stack up, and over the last eight years they stacked up rather impressively. 


MR. ROGERS:  You're going back to your weather point, which I understand.  


I think I will leave it with that.  Thank you very much.  


Now, I have just one last series of questions.  This deals with the charge determinant issue.  


I understand this morning -- this is really the first time I have understood this really what's being proposed here is that there be some other process to look at this proposal by AMPCO for the five month...


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.  Again, we don't know if it is five months or four months or six months, but some kind of a delivery process where we can define what the peak period constraint is on transmission. 


MR. ROGERS:  I understand, sir.   Now, Mr. Clark, you were the AMPCO representative in the stakeholdering process, weren't you, sir?


MR. CLARK:  Yes, I was. 


MR. ROGERS:  I wasn't there, but was the charge determinant not stakeholdered and discussed in detail?


MR. CLARK:  It was stakeholdered.  It was discussed in Detail, and it was debated in a lively fashion. 


MR. ROGERS:  Did you propose the five-month peak proposal there?  


MR. CLARK:  No, I did not.  Our focus at the time was removing the ratchet.  


MR. ROGERS:  Why didn't you propose it during the stakeholdering?  


MR. CLARK:  I guess a couple of things.  The stakeholdering - and I must confess - was an entirely new process for me.  The second thing is that the stakeholdering primarily dealt with Hydro One's ideas about what the options might be around handling the network charge determinant, and effectively, it was, I guess, a review of the options at the time.  And frankly, it wasn't until we got into it later that we realized that something different than just removing the ratchet might be the best way to go. 


MR. ROGERS:  So the -- 


MR. CLARK:  It's been a long process for us. 


MR. ROGERS:  I understand.  So that the idea of the five-month peak proposal is something that's evolved over the past few months?  


MR. CLARK:  I would say since about -- when the stakeholdering was, last May.  Almost a year ago. 


MR. ROGERS:  Okay, thank you. 


MR. MacDONALD:  If I can comment on that, because I think I have some relevant information on that.  I met with Hydro One in June of 2005 and discussed the five CP methodology.  Suggested it; we went to the extent of discussing a pilot program for the five CP to demonstrate for this proceeding that that methodology may be the appropriate way to bill.  And we had those meetings and those discussions and still we're seeing, you know, that that proposal is rejected on the Hydro One proposal.  


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much, Mr. MacDonald.  I don't doubt that is true.  I just felt it was unfortunate this hadn't been brought up at the stakeholdering so that all of the people who are interested in it could have had some input, but I understand how it evolved.  


Mr. MacDonald, now that you have volunteered your help here, I would like to ask you a couple of questions.  


You told us about this New Jersey plant of yours.  


MR. MacDONALD:  Yes, sir.  


MR. ROGERS:  And you told us that you have -- this five-month system is based on your experience there.  


MR. MacDONALD:  Five CP system. 


MR. ROGERS:  Five CP system. 


MR. MacDONALD:  Yes, sir. 


MR. ROGERS:  Are you served by the PJM transmission system?  


MR. MacDONALD:  We are -- our utility is served by the PJM system.  We are a direct customer of PSE&G. 


MR. ROGERS:  You're not a customer of the transmission system?  


MR. MacDONALD:  Well, in the United States you cannot be.  You have to be behind a load-serving entity.  


MR. ROGERS:  So what you've been describing then is a distribution rate?  


MR. MacDONALD:  No.  We are connected at 230 kV directly to PJM's transmission system.  However, the allocation, the collection of the costs for the transmission are done through the utility.  


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  And the utility -- Mr. Saleba, you can help me there, but I judge from the table that you have attached as Exhibit 2 to your testimony is that PJM allocates annual revenue requirements based on one coincident peak.  


MR. SALEBA:  Correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  Is that right?  


MR. SALEBA:  That's correct.  


MR. ROGERS:  So then for the rates to be transferred down to Mr. MacDonald, it's the local municipal utility that passes that along to you over a five monthly peak.  


MR. MacDONALD:  That's correct.  


MR. ROGERS:  System.  I see.  


MR. MacDONALD:  PJM does a five critical peak methodology for capacity, and the transmission is done on a five critical peak by the transmission company.  


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.  


I am very nearly finished but I would like to ask a few more questions about this issue of charge determinants, where we started off, Mr. Saleba.  


MR. SALEBA:  Okay.  


MR. ROGERS:  You agree that if the revenue requirement of the utility can be protected, the utility is neutral, financially neutral about this issue?  


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And its only interest would be in being fair to all of its customers?  


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.  


MR. ROGERS:  Now, you said this morning that there is something in this proposal for everybody and the municipalities could take advantage of it just equally with large industrial users. 


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.  


MR. ROGERS:  You also agree, I'm sure, that this debate about people pricing versus average costs has been around for decades.  


MR. SALEBA:  Yes, it has. 


MR. ROGERS:  It's a philosophical discussion that has been going on for 30 or more years; correct?


MR. SALEBA:  The preamble with that was the average costing versus the marginal costing?  


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  


MR. SALEBA:  That's been going on for a long time.  That really wasn't what we were talking about, though, I don't think. 


MR. ROGERS:  Maybe yes.  Maybe no.  


But why is it, if this would be so good for municipalities, why do municipalities always oppose it?  


MR. MacDONALD:  That's a good question. 


MR. SALEBA:  We asked ourselves that same question last night at dinner.  And you will note in our discussions today with the EDA attorney that we tried to bring out the fact that we thought this proposal would be at least as good if not better for his clients than ours.  And that's why we're somewhat perplexed about why the EDA, as an example, is opposed to it. 


MR. ROGERS:  Could it be the fact that the EDA in Ontario, I think, represents I'm not sure of the numbers, but around 90 percent or so of the load?  


MR. SALEBA:  You've got 90 members or so, for sure. 


MR. ROGERS:  So might they be opposed to it because even if they could shift their peak of the 90 percent of the load, they just shift it to another time of day and they would still be stuck with it. 


MR. SALEBA:  That was the discussion we head earlier.  It may be that shifting off of one CP doesn't work because, as Darren mentioned, you might have to shift off three or four CP.  But our continuing point is removing the ratchet, as far as we can tell, does no harm and has the potential of increasing the incentive to switch load.  So it looks like it is a no-loser for everybody.  So I have a hard time figuring out why people are so entrenched against it. 


MR. ROGERS:  I am too, but -- I thought I always understood it, but for the first time this morning you're the first person to ever say –- I've ever heard say, to tell you the truth, that peak load pricing like this might be good for municipalities. 


I'm wondering whether the reason might be is that a municipality in Ontario, which is part of about I'm going to say 90 percent of the load, if municipalities which tend to reflect the same kind of customer profiles shift their collective peak from four o'clock in the afternoon to 12 o'clock noon, then they're still all going to be on the peak.  


MR. SALEBA:  That's called, in the business, we call that peak chasing.  And experience has been that doesn't seem to be a problem.  


MR. ROGERS:  I see.  


MR. SALEBA:  There's a lot of places where load control for residential and commercial and industrial has been implemented, and peak chasing is something that people always worry about, but in practice it doesn't seem to be a problem.  


MR. ROGERS:  I see.  All right.  Mr. MacDonald, the system that you have in New Jersey and the one that you are proposing here, for further study at least, if I understand it correctly, it would be based upon a charge which depended upon one hour of usage at the system peak for five months.  In other words, each month of the five peak months, you would pay based upon your demand during the peak hour.  


MR. MacDONALD:  No.  That is not what the proposal is.  


The proposal is to look at a five-month period and five peaks within the five-month period.  


MR. ROGERS:  Yes. 


MR. MacDONALD:  So that all peaks that occur don't necessarily occur once per month.  They occur when the system peaks occur during the peak periods.  That would establish your obligation to pay transmission charges until the next peak period.  So your average of your five CPs would set your obligation to pay for the next period of time, a future period of time.  


It has been very effective for us.  That is the way we have been doing it for years, and it certainly encourages us to do the right thing.


MR. ROGERS:  I'm not sure I understand that, but I will think about it.


Does that mean, though, that if I am an industrial customer and, for whatever reason, I can avoid taking power during that one-hour peak, that I pay nothing for the rest of the month?


MR. MacDONALD:  From a transmission perspective?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. MacDONALD:  If you curtailed your load completely?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, for the peak hour.


MR. MacDONALD:  Yes, that would be effectively what you could do, but practically it's not -- you know, General Motors and Gerdau Ameristeel can't take all of their load off the system.


MR. ROGERS:  They can reduce it substantially, though.


MR. MacDONALD:  Some customers can reduce it more substantially.  I believe that is why AMPCO is supporting this.  AMPCO is a very diverse group of customers, some with very high load factors, some that cannot shift much load, and others like ours that can, and they still stand behind the proposal as being of benefit to all ratepayers.


MR. ROGERS:  If you do avoid that one hour completely, then you pay nothing for the entire month?


MR. MacDONALD:  We're not talking about a month here.  I'm talking about a six-month period.  We would have a period of two or three months, let's say we did summer peak, where we would have to manage our peaks more than one time, more than one hour.  


As I said, in New Jersey, for a five critical peak system, we shut down somewhere between 12 and 18 times a year in order to capture those five critical peaks.


MR. ROGERS:  If you could ‑‑


MR. MacDONALD:  And each time we shut down for more than one hour.  We shut down two, three, four hours in order to capture that.


MR. ROGERS:  If you're able to do that, does that mean you don't pay any transmission charges?  If you're off?


MR. MacDONALD:  No, it means we reduce our transmission charges.  We don't curtail the entire plant.  We still need to produce our widgets.  We bring our load down during those hours.


MR. ROGERS:  But if somebody could avoid it, they would pay nothing?


MR. MacDONALD:  Yes.  As is today, if they avoid the 7:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m.


MR. ROGERS:  I understand.  When I leave here, I'm going to go downstairs and get on the subway, and I'm going to get a seat, because there is not going to be many people on it.  Do you think I should ride free?


MR. MacDONALD:  If you can get away with it.


[Laughter]


MR. ROGERS:  No further questions.


[Laughter]


MR. MacDONALD:  It's not the same analogy.


MS. NOWINA:  You're finished.  Ms. Lea?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Pardon me, Madam Chair, I said I wouldn't have any questions, but something came up during Mr. Rogers' cross‑examination that I would like to address.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, Mr. DeVellis, you go first, then.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DeVELLIS:

MR. DeVELLIS:  Mr. Clark, the question is for you.  It is regarding your exchange with Mr. Rogers regarding your conversation with someone at OPA regarding the 1,350 target reduction for 2007.


Do you recall my discussion yesterday with Mr. But, when I pointed him to the OPA's -- the Conservation Officer's annual report for 2006?  If you have Exhibit L9.1 with you, I believe it was at page 12 of that compendium of documents.


MR. CLARK:  Are you talking about page 12 of the 

chief --


MR. DeVELLIS:  Page 12 of my document, but it's page 26 of the actual report.


MR. CLARK:  Of the annual report?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.


MR. CLARK:  Yes.  I've got page 26 here.


MR. DeVELLIS:  What the OPA said there was that their savings achieved as of 2006 was 963 megawatts and that those savings include 328 megawatts of naturally occurring conservation.


MR. CLARK:  Yes.  That is by summer of 2006.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  Okay.  And there was other evidence that the 1,350 was a cumulative number.  In other words, it built on the 963 as of 2006.


MR. CLARK:  I'm sorry, but I think you're confusing me a bit, because I think you may be looking at two different tables.  Can you clarify?


MR. DeVELLIS:  The target reduction of 1,350 megawatts is not all for 2007.  That's a cumulative reduction.


MR. CLARK:  It's cumulative through to -- basically from end of 2003 to an undefined point in 2007.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  The suggestion I put to Mr. But was, if the 963 megawatts as of 2006 included 328 megawatts of naturally occurring conservation, then at a minimum we would need to deduct 328 megawatts from the 1,350 as well, because if it's built into the 963, then it would also be built into the 1,350.


MR. CLARK:  It could be double-counted, yes.  I think that is what you're saying.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I understood you to say something differently to Mr. Rogers regarding your conversation with the OPA.  That's why I wanted clarification.


MR. CLARK:  Sure.  In my conversation with Mr. Rogers, it was regarding my original written evidence.  In my original written evidence, my understanding was that the 1,350 megawatts, from 2003 to 2006 -- or 2007, sorry, could include the naturally occurring conservation.  In fact, that is why the OPA reported it.


After listening to Mr. But yesterday, I made a phone call during the break to a manager at the OPA to get clarification on that, and was informed that they regard naturally occurring conservation as outside of the 1,350.  That was the discussion I had with Mr. Rogers.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I think that is where the confusion comes in.  I wonder if you can undertake to get a clarification from the OPA, from whoever you spoke to at the OPA, because it seems to me that ‑‑ well, it seems to me that can't be correct.  If the 2006 number of 963 megawatts included 328 megawatts of naturally occurring conservation, then the 1,350 would also have to include at least 328, if you assume zero ‑‑


MR. CLARK:  I understand the misunderstanding we're having, and I had the same misunderstanding.  I don't know that we require an undertaking on it.


I believe what this comes down to is if you look at the 963, take out 328, you've got yourself -- 625, is it?


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Thirty-five.


MR. CLARK:  -- megawatts of programmed CDM within the ‑‑ that counts towards the 1,350 having been accomplished by the summer of 2006.


So that by the end of 2006, you would have something greater than that, obviously, because the programs have been ongoing.  And by the end of 2007, they feel they will have the full 1,350.  


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, I'm going to jump in and ask a question.  So only the 635 counts to the 13 ‑‑ to the cumulative to 1,350?


MR. CLARK:  The 635 would count to the 1,350.


MS. NOWINA:  Not the full nine ‑‑


MR. CLARK:  The 328 --


MS. NOWINA:  Would not?


MR. CLARK:  -- would be buried within the ongoing change in demand over time.


MS. NOWINA:  I see.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I think I understand what you're saying.  I think it would still be helpful to get a clarification from the OPA, just because I think what you're saying is hearsay and there seems to be --


MR. CLARK:  Sure.


MR. DeVELLIS:  ‑‑ an inconsistency with what is in their report and with what you're saying.


MR. CLARK:  I can get a clarification maybe in the form of a table.  I will try to do that with the OPA, indicating their progress, both natural and otherwise.


MS. NOWINA:  That would be helpful.  Let's get an undertaking number.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  K10.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. K10.3:  AMPCO TO PROVIDE CLARIFICATION FROM OPA.

MS. LEA:  Do I understand correctly that this document is to be produced?  You were going to produce it in the hearing, but it is to be created by the OPA?


MR. CLARK:  I will get the numbers from the OPA.  I will probably have to construct the table, but I will definitely interview the OPA.  If they have something internal, I will get it if I possibly can.


MR. RUPERT:  This doesn't need to be added to the undertaking, Mr. Clark, but just from what you're saying, it sounds like the provincial target of 1,350 megawatts is exclusive of naturally occurring conservation.  Is that the conclusion I should reach from what you said?  That these targets that are posted are just to be conservation targets emanating from programs?


MR. CLARK:  That is my understanding in speaking with the OPA yesterday, yes, sir.


MR. RUPERT:  Okay, thanks.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  I think we will take a ten‑minute break, Ms. Lea, before you begin.


MS. LEA:  Okay.


MS. NOWINA:  We will resume at ten minutes to.



‑‑‑ Recess taken at 12:38 p.m. 


--- Upon resuming at 12:49 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Mr. DeVellis.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  While we're waiting for Ms. Lea, I just had one other clarification.  We received a call from Mr. Harper during the break who wanted us to point something else out to Mr. Clark.  


I understand you don't have our compendium from yesterday.  But do you have appendix 2 to the OPA's annual report, the 2006 annual report?


MR. CLARK:  I don't know that I have that with me.  If you could just give me a moment.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  For the record, this is page 13 of Exhibit L9.1.  


MR. CLARK:  I don't seem to have it with me. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  It is sentence.  When you check your records late later -- just one sentence.  What it says at appendix 2 is: 

"The Conservation Bureau estimates that Ontario electricity users have achieved roughly 950 megawatts of the 1350 megawatts in savings as of the summer 2006."  


That suggests, to us, that their target of 950, well, when they say target of 950, it includes naturally occurring.  Then as a consequence, target 1350 also includes naturally occurring conservation.  So when you're speaking from the person at OPA, if you could put that to them as well.  That seems to be inconsistent with what you're saying now.  


MR. CLARK:  It may be possible that -- it is certainly inconsistent with what I just said.  It may be -- it is consistent with what I originally wrote, yes.  


And it's inconsistent with what I said and with what Mr. But said in testimony the other day.  So I will check that out.  It may be you have shifting understandings within the OPA.  I just don't know.


MS. NOWINA:  We're going to take a five-minute recess.  We will be right back.  


--- Recess taken at 12:51 p.m. 


--- Upon resuming at 12:52 p.m. 


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, please be seated.  All right.  Ms. Lea.  Go ahead.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. LEA:


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Mr. Clark may be relieved to hear that my questions are actually on charge determinants and not on load forecasting.  Gentlemen, I would like to begin by talking a little bit about the evidence brought about other jurisdictions.  


Mr. Saleba, you provided some evidence regarding FERC and the tests that were applied.  Mr. Buonaguro asked you about those.  


Is it possible to apply this test to the non-coincident peak methodologies, in other words, for example, the methodology that Hydro One has right now?  Or is it only a coincident peak methodology test?  


MR. SALEBA:  I think that -- I think the test that FERC looks at or for the –- to come up with the classification and cost allocator and the cost of service, and I think the four tests that FERC has, in that context, apply nicely to Hydro One.  


MS. LEA:  I'm not sure I understand your answer.  


MR. SALEBA:  Maybe I didn't get the question.  Try me again. 


MS. LEA:  Okay.  What I'm trying to understand is that you gave us results from -- you applied this to the CP methodology, but I'm looking at whether it can be applied to the status quo methodology that Hydro One has.  


MR. SALEBA:  Okay.  The four tests which we look at apply to the cost allocation portion of it.  They don't really deal much with rate design.  When you're talking about -- I guess I'm having trouble with the – I'm probably not using the right words.  But Hydro One uses the 12 CP for cost allocation and then they use the 12 CP plus a ratchet for rate design.  


And that's -- that last part we're talking about is status quo.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  I understand you now, sir.  I had neglected to separate those two things.  


There was another clarification question.  Does any jurisdiction that you looked at, Mr. Saleba, have a five coincident peak rate design for a transmitter?  


MR. SALEBA:  The only one I know about is the one that Darren discussed at PJM. 


MS. LEA:  As I understand it, that isn't the actual transmitters' rate.  


MR. SALEBA:  Go ahead.  


MR. MacDONALD:  PSE&G is the transmission owner and they are allocating costs to us as a high voltage transmission customer on a five CP basis.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  My confusion arises in part because of the exhibit -- it's called Exhibit 2 appended to Mr. Saleba's evidence.  It is a chart at the back, "Network transmission demand allocator for various jurisdictions." 


Now, Mr. Rodger, you helpfully gave it its correct exhibit number today.  Can you do that again, please?  


MR. RODGER:  Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 5.  


MS. LEA:  Schedule 5.  It's a chart.  And that says that PJM has a one CP methodology.  


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.  Again for clarification, this chart looks at, within the cost-of-service study, how demand costs are allocated.  And the five CP would be, I would characterize it as a rate design.  I think we talked to several of our friends about how those two should be consistent in a perfect world, but sometimes other considerations come into the rate design which cause you to change what the allocation factor might be in the cost allocation study.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.  I wonder if we could talk a little bit about Alberta.  


Do you, Mr. Saleba, or anyone on the panel, know what Alberta's rate design is right now for transmission?  


MR. SALEBA:  We have worked in Alberta for probably 20 years on transmission rates, so I can -- not within the last couple of years, but certainly historically we have a lot.  I looked at that in the context of a paper done by somebody at NERA. 


MS. LEA:  Yes, I think I provided that to your counsel Wednesday evening. 


MR. SALEBA:  I looked at it. 


MS. LEA:  Let's have a look at this and make it an exhibit, if it please the Board.  This is National Economics Research Associates paper that was delivered in a conference which ran from March 26th to 28th of 2007.  I would like to mark it for identification, please, as L10.4.  


EXHIBIT NO. L10.4:  NERA PAPER 


MS. LEA:  I believe the Board panel has a copy.  There are additional copies on the side for my friends or anyone who doesn't have it.  Mr. Saleba, please help us. 


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.  Would you like a description of what this is or what the transmission rates are now?  


MS. LEA:  I'm interested to know what Alberta does now.  Then I will direct you to specific parts of this presentation.  


MR. SALEBA:  Okay.  The Alberta transmission coordinator is called the AESO, and the AESO rates at the current time consist of a charge per megawatt of about $12,000 for each megawatt on coincident peak demand, plus a charge per megawatt hour for the bulk system charge, which we would call the network charge.  


In addition to that, they have charges for local charges, which would be improvements that were made just for a specific LDC or industrial customer as well as a point of delivery charge which would be direct assignments and metering, and switch gear, and protective relays and some of that.  But for purposes of our discussion, when we're looking at network rates, the equivalent of an AESO network rate is a demand charge based on monthly coincident peak as well as a megawatt hour charge or energy charge based upon megawatt-hour consumption. 


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  That is helpful.  If we could look together then at slides 13 and 14 of this NERA document.  N-E-R-A, for the record, NERA.  At slide 13, the second point, they say: 

"The AESO demonstrated there is virtually no link between loadings on individual bulk lines and system CPs." 


And then at line, slide 14 they said:   

"NERA agree that CP is not the right billing determinant," 

and so on.  


And I was wondering -- they go on to say that: 

"Using NCP," that is, non-coincident peak, "treats each hour as potentially an hour of stress.  And that using CP when it is inappropriate could result in high loads in the real critical hours leading to inefficient system expansion."  


Can you comment on whether these factors also apply in Ontario?  


MR. SALEBA:  Yes.  Maybe some context on the derivation of the paper would be helpful.  As part of 

the -- the AESO had a collaborative exercise on transmission costing and pricing similar to what we're doing here, and as one of the follow-ons they set up – the AESO set up several task forces to look at discrete issues.  One of these task forces was what they called the marginal cost working group.  That was a group to take a look at whether they should use embedded costing or marginal costing for purposes of pricing.  It is similar to what Mr. Rogers and I talked about. 


NERA was hired as a consultant for one of the special interest groups to come in and give a pitch on what they thought the transmission costing and pricing should look like and this is it.  And so that is the context.  


So  Hethie Parmesano was a consultant hired by a special interest group, as I understand it, to come in and give her side of the story on what would be best for probably her clients.  And she took a look at that and said, came up with these following conclusions. 


I would suggest to you that being involved in the genesis of the Alberta transmission rates, that using a non-coincident peak for cost allocation purposes up there would be a broad departure from what has been mainstream for the last 10 or 15 years.  Number one.  


Number 2, she's talking about some kind of a ratchet based on non-coincident peak, and I see all kinds of pitfalls with that, as we've talked about here.  Any time you have a ratcheted demand based on non-coincident peak, you don't give people any incentive to shift load off the system peak.  And while she quotes here the AESO saying that there is no relationship between individual bulk lines and coincident peak, I would agree with that.  And some of the information which we got from the VECC attorneys supported that.  The chart -- I don't have reference to this, but the chart that shows what the system peaks were by area within Ontario, on that peak day on July 16th.  It shows the different areas of the Ontario system peak at different times.  


You know, so I would say from that standpoint, that Alberta and Ontario are the -- most major systems are a lot like that.  You don't have every line peaking at the same time every time.  But having said that, the jurisdictions consistently come back and say that coincident peak is a much better measurement of cost causation on transmission then some measurement of non-coincident peak. 


And to complicate that even further by putting a ratchet in rate design on transmission I see as a terrible disincentive to any kind of load shifting.  And it may be in Alberta, they don't have the conservation ethic and the load shedding ethic that you have in Ontario here, so maybe the ratchet in rate design wouldn't be as counter provincial policy in Alberta as it might be here.  


But I guess at the end of the day, I would be interested in seeing what the AESO staff has to say about this position, to see if it has been characterized properly or not.


MS. LEA:  My information, although it doesn't indicate that in the presentation and I may have to take an undertaking to provide something, is that it is actually the AESO that retained NERA in this circumstance.


MR. SALEBA:  It could be.


MS. LEA:  In any event, sir, I wonder if we could look at slide 17, and it's one particular statement there that I am interested in and that's the second one:

"The standard assumptions of system peaks are the critical hours for the transmission system and therefore that some coincident peak method of embedded cost allocation or rate structure is appropriate is not necessarily correct."


What I want to draw from that, sir, is not that it's wrong or right for Alberta, but that it is not always true to state that coincident peak is the right answer for every transmission system.


MR. SALEBA:  This goes back ‑‑ this is in the cost of service context where science prevails, and where science prevails we've always got to have a strong nexus between system design criteria and how the costs are allocated.


And on most of the transmission systems I know about, especially the bulk high voltage transmission systems, CP seems to be the driving force for design, but you could have isolated transmission systems with radio lines where coincident peak wasn't the driving force, in which case some other measurement would be the appropriate cost allocator, in my view.


MS. LEA:  I wonder whether, sir, you could comment on this idea, that CP may not be an appropriate system where the price signal - that is, the price signal that the consumer, the directly connected customer received - is not the same as the system peak, or where the person receiving that signal cannot respond to it?


MR. SALEBA:  Well, with respect to response, there is a leap in faith between setting bulk transmission rates and what the end user sees.  That leap of faith is that the retailer will pass through the pricing signals in a proper way.


MS. LEA:  Perhaps I can ask this.  How would a directly connected customer know when the transmission system is at peak?


MR. SALEBA:  The LDC would tell the direct customer.


MS. LEA:  I'm sorry?  The customer that's directly connected to the transmission system, how does that customer know that the transmission system is at peak?


MR. SALEBA:  The large customer or the LDC customer?


MS. LEA:  The large customer directly connected.


MR. MacDONALD:  From our experience, we have access to instantaneous megawatt-hour ‑‑ megawatt ratings on the system.  We know what the system load is at all times.  We put in ‑‑ we wrote ourselves some pretty sophisticated in-house software to help identify when those peaks might happen and when our load is coincident with those peaks.


MS. LEA:  How many AMPCO customers that are directly connected to the transmission system have that sort of system in place, sir?


MR. MacDONALD:  Well, that sort of incentive isn't there today, so I wouldn't imagine many have that.  However, there's software available and certainly would develop it if that market opportunity was there.


MS. LEA:  Do AMPCO members respond to prices, as well?  I guess what I'm trying to figure out is that we have evidence in an interrogatory, J‑1-143 - it's a Staff interrogatory to Hydro One - where Hydro One stated that during stakeholdering, information was introduced by stakeholders showing that there were few instances where the high system demand hours captured the five, ten or 20 highest prices in each month.


And then it did its own analysis - that is, Hydro One completed its own analysis - of the 2005 market data, which confirmed that for no month in 2005 did the high system demand hours capture all of the ten or 20 highest priced hours.


And out of the 12 months, the high system demand hours captured less than half of the 20 highest priced hours of the month.


What I'm asking, I guess, is:  How are customers who can shift load going to know when to shift it if the price to which they would probably respond, if commodity is the biggest part of the bill, if the price doesn't match the system peak?


MR. MacDONALD:  One second.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. MacDONALD:  I think it's important to note that under the current system, with 12 CPs you have periods of time, shoulder months, where you have no system peak and therefore very low system peaks.  But you're still setting a coincident peak, and so the prices may not be high.  


Under the proposal that AMPCO has, you're going to better align the system peak under a five CP methodology with prices that are higher and transmission system loading that is higher.  


So what it does is bring alignment to when the system is loaded and when the prices are higher.  You may not have the highest price, but you will consistently have higher prices with higher transmission loading.


You asked about the ability for a customer to forecast these periods of time or know when to curtail.  Those kind of systems will be developed right away, if the market provides an opportunity to reduce costs, by tracking those and that's exactly what we did in our New Jersey operations.  


We built some software to track the real-time energy demand and forecast when those peaks might be, looking at IESO forecasts and looking at weather, et cetera.


MS. LEA:  This is something that you would recommend that the local distribution companies do, as well, of course, as the large industrial directly connected customers?


MR. MacDONALD:  They may have a different approach.  There may be different programs developed for residentials, like water heater and air conditioner controls, but certainly, there will be ways to reduce residential, commercial and industrial load during the system peaks.


MS. LEA:  Mr. Saleba, VECC asked you an interrogatory and the exhibit number is J‑11-22.  And VECC asked you whether you had any experience or knowledge as to how successful large customers typically are in predicting system peak and shifting loads off when system peak actually occurs. 


And you indicated you did not have that knowledge.  Is that the case, sir?


MR. SALEBA:  That's correct.  Our local expert is the one to address that question to.


MS. LEA:  I see.  But, unfortunately, in the interrogatories to AMPCO, as well, I don't believe AMPCO was able to give us that information either.  Am I wrong about that?  Is there an interrogatory that gives us a not anecdotal but actual indication of the ability of customers to shift and predict system peak?


MR. CLARK:  AMPCO doesn't have that sort of information member by member.


MS. LEA:  And you don't have it on a bulk percentage of members either; is that correct?


MR. CLARK:  That is correct.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Gentlemen, you filed a Navigant study as part of your evidence here.


Mr. Saleba, in your indication that LDCs were going to benefit or could benefit substantially from the proposal by AMPCO, I was confused to see that in the Navigant executive summary, at page 5 of the executive summary, they indicated large customers that are wholesale market participants likely represent the best opportunity for short-term demand response.


Has that ‑‑ has something changed?  Is that different now than it was when Navigant wrote the study?


MR. MacDONALD:  Can we have one second?


MS. LEA:  Please.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. SALEBA:  We can only conjecture what Navigant meant by that sentence.  But my sense of that sentence is that they think industrial customers will be the first to respond to some kind of a price shift.  That's not to say that the residentials and the commercials won't over a longer period of time.


As an example, for an LDC to put in an air conditioner control program, it's going to take quite a while to get all of the logistics put together and contact the customers, and get the equipment in and vet it with the utility board, and get all of that done; whereas an industrial customer can act much quicker, albeit the end result is the same.  It's just a matter of timing.


MS. LEA:  Uh‑huh.  When I look at the Navigant study and the conditions under which it was written and the date at which it was written, is it still relevant?  Is it something this Board should be considering when deciding what to do about this balancing act that the Board has to perform among customer groups?  


Is the Navigant study still relevant, given the changes in the market that have happened since it was written?  


MR. MacDONALD:  Could you be more specific about the change in the market that you're concerned about?  


MS. LEA:  Certainly.  There have been changes in market structure itself. 


At the time the study was done, there was a more active spot market, more transactions were done through the spot market.  


Since the time of the Navigant study, considerable demand reduction measures have been taken.  For example, the funding to LDCs for CDM programs, particularly things like the peaksaver program.  The IESO has implemented demand response programs and education to consumers.  


The OPA has implemented demand response programs; some of them are still being implemented.  Various utilities have implemented time of use pricing at least on a pilot basis, and we are at the Board here are involved in that pilot project.  


So the change in the market structure, combined with the efforts at demand reduction, does this suggest that the estimates, the benefits have already been partly achieved?  The once that the Navigant study was putting forward have already been partly achieved and we have captured much of the demand response that was contemplated in the Navigant study? 


MR. SALEBA:  It seems like there has been a lot of time passed since the Navigant study.  Certainly a more current study would be helpful.  But I think the essence of -- it may be that a lot of the commodity savings that Navigant talked about have been mined, if you will.  But all we're suggesting is that if we can change one small part of rate design we can set up another incentive to get people to even do more, which isn't available right now.  


MS. LEA:  That leads me to another question.  I'm suggesting that there may be a law of diminishing returns at operation here.  We have already achieved some benefits.  This benefit that you are suggesting may occur, it appears, may come at a cost to some customers and that is a matter of debate.  I understand that.  


Is it worth changing this rate design system at this time to capture that relatively small amount of demand reduction that might be achieved, or have we reached the point of diminishing returns? 


MR. SALEBA:  I think it is certainly worthy of pursuing at this point.  It appears to me, it is my opinion, the costs associated with eliminating the ratchet is very small.  There is debate about who wins and loses.  But in other jurisdictions, as I said, other LDCs as well as large industrials both can respond to these types of rate changes, successfully.  


The other anecdotal piece of information is, in our survey work anyway, we can't find any other ISOs that have a ratchet on their rate design.  And that's particularly troublesome I think up here, given that the emphasis on load control and CDM and how ratchets tend to frustrate those types of activities.  


MR. MacDONALD:  I would like to add as well -- I don't believe that we've seen the end of high prices, nor do we diminish the value of a load response, because other customers are responding.  


Any time that we see an increase in the demand for electricity, we would like customers to respond.  They will have an economic incentive from the energy price itself, from the commodity, and they will have a further economic incentive, if there is a rate design that encourages an additional economic incentive, and more response.  


So I think the goal of the government is to try and ensure we're not spending more money on new generation and new transmission and that what we're proposing is completely consistent with achieving those goals. 


MR. CLARK:  If I may close on that one a little bit, And I know this is getting all of us into it.  But the government gave us -- has given all of us targets that we've been discussing, the 1350 megawatts to 2007; there's another 1350 to come for 2010; and I believe there is a total of six or seven thousand in total we're supposed to get sometime out into the future.  So I don't see the need for incentives to get demand response diminishing over time.  It's a fundamentally important part of supply.  


MS. LEA:  Yes, thank you, sir.


I think my last question also relates to the Navigant study at pages 9 and 10.  I'm looking at Roman numerals.  No.  At 11 and 12 - it shows you how long ago it has been since I used Roman numerals - Navigant lists possible OEB actions, OEB actions.  


And as you are aware, this Board has certain actions it can take and certain actions it has taken.  Now, that list, and it is a fairly comprehensive list and many of these things have been implemented, that list did not include a recommendation to change the transmission charge or the structure of the transmission rate.  


I wonder if you could comment on whether that is because the benefit to be achieved from that change would either be very small - that is, minimal - or might be balanced against a disadvantage.  Can you comment on whether Navigant really missed the boat, or whether this was a pretty good list.  


MR. MacDONALD:  I can only comment from the -- I was involved in the report, and to the extent Navigant was interviewing large customers to understand what would drive demand response.  And the report was requested by the IESO for demand response.  It was not to include transmission.  Consider transmission.  It was trying to understand what the IESO needed to do to encourage demand response from a commodity perspective.  That's my understanding. 


MS. LEA:  Okay, sir.  I wouldn't disagree with you except that on Page 9 it says:  "Possible OEB actions."  So Navigant went beyond a mandate of recommending things for the IESO.  


It appears, to me, that it included actions by the regulator.  


MR. MacDONALD:  Sure.  With respect to the IESO.  


MS. LEA:  That may be true, sir.  In any event -- one moment, please.  


MS. NOWINA:  Just to follow up on that, while Ms. Lea is conferring.  One of the recommendations regarding the OEB is with respect to distribution rates.  So they certainly made recommendations that were with respect to rates.  


MR. MacDONALD:  I believe from a commodity perspective -– charge, electricity commodity charges.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you, then, gentlemen.   Those are my questions.  


Madam Chair, if I could be excused, I'd appreciate it very much. 


MS. NOWINA:  Certainly, Ms. Lea.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Mr. Rodger, re-direct.  


MR. RODGER:  Just a couple of brief questions, Madam Chair.  Thank you.  They're all for Mr. MacDonald.  


RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. RODGER:


MR. RODGER:  Mr. MacDonald, you had an exchange with Mr. Rogers about prior stakeholdering around this issue.  


Could you clarify for me the timing of the meetings you talked about that you had with Hydro One.  Were they 2005 or 2006?  


MR. MacDONALD:  I believe they were 2005.  


MR. RODGER:  2005.  And was the five CP discussed by AMPCO members and Hydro One during the stakeholdering, to your recollection?  


MR. MacDONALD:  I could not participate in the stakeholdering.  I wasn't available.  I did not participate so I am not entirely sure.  However more than one AMPCO member did meet with Hydro One regarding these proposals.  I can verify at least three, maybe four AMPCO members did have discussions with Hydro One regarding the five CP methodology back in 2005.  


MR. RODGER:  But did that involve you as well, directly?  


MR. MacDONALD:  Yes, it did.  


MR. RODGER:  And finally, Mr. Rogers ended his questions with you using a subway analogy.  I just want to ask it another way and put it to you to respond.  


In your view, Mr. MacDonald, does it make sense to pay my friend, Mr. Rogers, an economic incentive for him to avoid using the subway at off peak periods?  


MR. MacDONALD:  Well, I'm glad you asked the question, because I was jokingly responding to that analogy.  


I mean, for a load to curtail, one of the things in that analogy that isn't correct - and that's why I said the analogy is not correct - that getting on the subway for free is different from a load actually curtailing, because when a load curtails, there is a cost, the cost of lost production.  It is definitely not a free ride.  


The second piece of that is, to your question about rate design on the subway, you know, if there was a peak period on the subway, which there certainly is, and I rode that subway at five o'clock and there was a rate design that would encourage me to shift to three o'clock, I think that would be a better rate design to take the system -- take the load off the system at the peak and that would encourage me to do the right thing, so that would be the more appropriate response to the analogy.


MR. RODGER:  Those are my questions.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.  Mr. Rupert.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. RUPERT:  I have a few questions.  First, Mr. Saleba, I just wanted to understand your views on the five CP.  I think Mr. Rogers or somebody was asking you about your opinion on that, and you said that your opinion about the five CP was sort of restricted to whether it was in accordance with some principles, the principles you put forward.


Would it be equally true that if the current method of 12 CP, minus the ratchet that you don't like, would that system also meet your principles?


MR. SALEBA:  The two overriding principles on rate design in this context that we found, based upon the specific Hydro One application, was that the ratchet needed to go and that the period of time over which they looked at the peak was too broad.  You know, that 7:00 to 7:00 period for on peak, for the coincident peak part of it, was 

just -- you know, I'm sorry, for the ratchet was just way too wide.


The higher principle would be that the billing determinants matched up with the constrained system, the constraints on the transmission system, I think, you know, for PJM it might be a five CP.  It might be for Ontario it's a three CP or 12 -- or 10 CP maybe 12 CP.  I don't know.  I think that's something that needs to be discussed more by some of the technical experts.  


But certainly, a first step would be a 12 CP with no ratchet.  That would be better than business as usual.


MR. RUPERT:  So your real concern with the current structure is the ratchet?


MR. SALEBA:  It's the ratchet, number one.  Number two, you've got that April to May, September to October, maybe November periods when there isn't really a transmission peak and constraints, and they're still charging for that.  It seems a little out of sync with the cost causation principle.


MR. RUPERT:  I will come back to that.  The second aspect of your recommendations has to do with what you call a balancing account, sort of a variance account, which, as I understand it, would be tending to keep Hydro One whole with respect to its approved revenue requirement.


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.


MR. RUPERT:  That would, I guess, presumably mean that all of the risks that one normally has in our current structure with respect to weather and all of that would be taken off the table from Hydro One and put on to consumers, right?  That all of the risks now that a transmitter bears -- distributor bears for variations in demand due to weather or other economic factors, all of those would be, now, taken off Hydro One's plate and put on to consumers?


MR. SALEBA:  Maybe the AMPCO people have thought about the detail, but a balancing account could be as restricted as billing determinants for the network rate or it could be as broad as the overall revenue requirement.  In the latter case, you're right; I think a balancing account, which took all of the -- which trued up to the actual revenue requirement would take the risk off of Hydro One.


MR. RUPERT:  Are you advocating that, or not, in your recommendation?


MR. MacDONALD:  No, we're not advocating taking the risk off of Hydro One.  We're trying to just capture that load shift.


MR. RUPERT:  I'm not sure.  Maybe it's a question of level of detail, because I am not sure I understand how a balancing account would work.  That would somehow keep a bunch of these risks on Hydro One, while keeping it whole with respect ‑‑ I don't understand how it would work, I guess, and maybe it is the lack of detail that is causing my problem.


MR. SALEBA:  Can we have a second?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. SALEBA:  The consensus of the panel seems to be that the true-up should be on billing determinants, and in the event there is shaving of kilowatts somehow that worked at the detriment of Hydro One in terms of a revenue loss, those should be trued up.


We hadn't considered truing up on expenses as an example, and those types of things.  It would just be a revenue true-up.


MR. RUPERT:  Okay.  I will leave it there for a minute.


Mr. MacDonald, I think you said several times - actually, Mr. Saleba, you said it, as well - that this proposal on the five CP with no ratchets would be for everyone's benefit.


MR. MacDONALD:  Correct.


MR. RUPERT:  I'm sure you're familiar with what happens behind the distributor now with respect to transmission charges.  The transmitters pay ‑‑ the distributors pay the transmission charges, and, if I can be kind of loose about this, essentially put it into a big pot and spread it over all of their customers based on kilowatt‑hours.


MR. MacDONALD:  Correct.


MR. RUPERT:  So that any relationship between the peak nature of the transmission charge at the wholesale level is lost by the time it gets down to the distribution customer; right?


MR. MacDONALD:  Okay.


MR. RUPERT:  So I am just wondering in that environment, then, how this is of benefit to all of these people behind the distributor.


MR. MacDONALD:  Well, there is a number of programs that would look directly at, like, load control of an air conditioner which could have an allocated benefit, calculate what the -- you know, if we had 100 megawatts of air‑conditioner control, we know what that benefit would be from a transmission rate reduction perspective, and then roll that through to those customers that are participating in a derived program specifically aimed at that benefit.


MR. RUPERT:  So would you accept, though, that in order to do that, that would require not only some work and study, but also changes to the various rules that this Board has put in place for distributors to charge their customers?


MR. MacDONALD:  I'm not aware of what rules would need to change.


MR. RUPERT:  Okay.


MR. SALEBA:  We would accept that.  But, again, to the point, just as anecdote, a lot of the programs will have where if you sign up for the air conditioner control program, we're going to give you a $5 rebate, or if you agree to shut your water heater off for four hours a day, we will give you a $2 rebate.  


I'm not sure, from your standpoint, what has to be done to approve that, but that is the way you would get to the credit back and the incentive back to the customer, even though the transmission costs are all pooled in this pooling arrangement.


MR. RUPERT:  I understand that.  I'm just saying, in terms of your proposal and stating the benefits would accrue to a large number of people, you would accept that perhaps ‑‑ at least your proposal doesn't go through the analysis of what would be required in order to effect that behind the distributor?


MR. SALEBA:  Correct.


MR. RUPERT:  Your proposal doesn't contain anything on that?


MR. SALEBA:  No.  From the Board standpoint, I don't know what would have to be done.


MR. MacDONALD:  I think we could say, though, that clearly the energy portion would flow through, because you will see reductions in the commodity price as a result of those actions.


MR. RUPERT:  Let me come to that, then, because you have said several times that this would be an ancillary benefit to your proposal.


A few minutes ago, I don't know whether it was Ms. Lea or someone referred to this Interrogatory J‑1-143, which was Hydro One's analysis, for each month in the year 2005, of the 20 highest-priced hours in each month, an indication of whether that hour was actually in -- the demand in that hour was actually within 90 percent of the peak for the month.


And I won't go through the chart, but it does not give a consistent message that the highest-priced hours coincide with the five months that you have selected for your proposal.  I think that is fair to say.  


For example, in July, only one of the top highest -- 20 highest-priced hours was within 90 percent of the peak for the month.


So -- and that's only one year, I realize, and only one set of data.  But I guess I am just wondering if you have evidence that would support your contention there is this coincidence between, in Ontario, the high-priced hours and the peak on the system, to the extent it would bring forth these benefits on the commodity that you say are there.


MR. MacDONALD:  Just one second.


MR. SALEBA:  I can't speak to the Ontario market, but I can speak to other markets and maybe suggest by analogy how that works.


It seems like in Ontario we have a fairly -- relatively new market, where there's still some settling out going between the dispatch and the market pricing and the buying and the selling and all.  


In other more mature markets in the States, there is a relationship between transmission peaks and commodity prices.  It would just -- if law and order prevails, and there is no market manipulation and everybody has perfect knowledge, and all of those kinds of preambles.  


You would think when the transmission peak goes up, that is because loads were high.  When loads are high, the commodity prices should be high, as well. 


MR. RUPERT:  I can understand that might would be an intuitive thing, but in terms of Ontario, for the six -- I guess five years that we've had this market in place, whether you've done an analysis that would support the contention you made earlier today, because the one year that Hydro One has analyzed would appear not to support that.  


I'm wondering, in terms of the other four years, you've done an analysis of the peak load versus prices.


MR. CLARK:  I may have done some investigation of this and I will qualify that with "some", but I have looked at all hours for the last several years, not including that 7:00 to 7:00 and weekends.


The short answer is the price that's avoided at the time that the peak is avoided and the number of hours that you have to go on the hunt, as it were, varies a lot with the accuracy of your software, with your ability to recognize when the peak is going to happen.


If your software is around 95 percent accurate - that is, that you can nail it -- and I pretty nail it, and I have talked to Darren about what he has been able to do at Gerdau, the price generally averaged over the last few years has been around or a little over $100 a megawatt-hour.  That is a raw average.  Sometimes it is down 80 or so.  Sometimes it is quite a bit higher.  So you are not getting the top price, but you're getting -- you're knocking off a high price, which is a time when I -- and I have tried to get in price demand elasticity on that but the IESO, frankly, doesn't have the data together well enough to do that just yet.  


MR. SALEBA:  The last two questions you brought up are both good implementation questions that we don't have answers for, to be candid.  We would see that as being part of the scope of the follow-on collaborative.  


MR. RUPERT:  I only have a couple more left.  I wanted to understand better, Mr. MacDonald, the situation of your New Jersey plant.  I gather there, you are a customer of Public Service Electric & Gas, you're saying, and they are a transmission owner in PJM. 


MR. MacDONALD:  Correct.  


MR. RUPERT:  I guess there are several transmission owners in PJM. 


MR. MacDONALD:  Yes.  


MR. RUPERT:  Can you tell me whether the other transmission owners than PJM also have a five CP 

charging -- 


MR. MacDONALD:  We have two facilities so I can only speak to those two.  They are both billed in the same format. 


MR. RUPERT:  Same transmitter or different? 


MR. MacDONALD:  Different transmitter. 


MR. RUPERT:  Different?  


MR. MacDONALD:  Yes.  


MR. RUPERT:  Okay.  Also in your New Jersey facility, and this is, I think as I understand it, the recommendation of your proposal, is that this all gets done sort of one year, or the credit gets pass the through one year in arrears so that this year you are charged transmission based on what you did last year in your five hours.  


Does this sort of separating the action from the cash for a year's time, does that have any blunting effect of the incentive that you see here?  


MR. MacDONALD:  Not at all.  We look at it, you know, as though it was real time.  We're basically setting up -- basically it helps us and I think probably the transmitter from the perspective of -- we know what our costs are for next year based on how we respond this year.  Our costs are fixed so the transmitter's costs, he knows what he's getting, we know what we are getting.  It allows us to budget for our electricity costs much better for the following year. 


MR. RUPERT:  The last one I wanted to ask was back on this notion that everyone benefits here.  Particularly when we've got a balancing account in place.  


If this proposal were put in place, I think you have acknowledged, without knowing quite what would happen, certain classes of customers would have a reduction in their transmission charges and others would have an increase; and certainly, if everyone took some action at the end of the day the sense that Hydro One was out of pocket, the balancing account would certainly come back and somehow spread that revenue deficiency over everybody.  


So under your proposal, Hydro One's revenue is going to be the same regardless?  Right?  


MR. MacDONALD:  Hmm-hmm.  


MR. RUPERT:  So what would happen within that is really just a cost shifting between certain classes of customers, since the whole revenue that Hydro One will earn is going to be the same regardless, as I understand it.  


So when you have such a major cost shifting between customers, I'm just wondering how you quantify the potentially major - I don't know the number - potentially major cost shifting, how do you quantify the system benefits that allow you to say, That's okay, I think living with that kind of shift from group A to group B to group C is okay because there are these bigger system-wide benefits that I could see.  How do you quantify that?  


MR. MacDONALD:  We looked -- within AMPCO, we got agreement around the table where very few of those customers are able to do much load shifting at all, and some are able to do quite a bit.  


We looked at the total cost of increased transmission to those customers versus the benefit of the reduced energy rates for those actions during the peak periods and found there was a net benefit.  Everybody would benefit.  So everyone supported the concept. 


MR. RUPERT:  Have you actually modelled the reduction in commodity charges?


MR. MacDONALD:  Only to the extent that we can look at reports like Navigant's report.  PJM has a similar report showing reductions in the market clearing price or the hourly price, based on step changes in reduction in load.  


MR. RUPERT:  So it's not like you're taking your five CP thing and everything else together as you proposed it and modelled -- 


MR. MacDONALD:  No.  We're using analogous data. 


MR. RUPERT:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thanks. 


MS. NOWINA:  I have no questions.  Thank you very much panel.  


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:
MS. NOWINA:  Before we adjourn today, just to mention about the rest of our schedule for those who haven't been following along with the schedule that people have been looking at here in paper format.  


So on Tuesday, May 22nd, we will complete the evidentiary portion of this proceeding.  We will start at 9:30 at as usual on Tuesday, and that is the examination of Dr. Booth on the cost of capital.  


We had had an evidentiary day planned for Friday, May 25th but that has now been eliminated because I understand that no one wishes to cross-examine and Drs. Lazar and Prisman.   


We will let you know as soon as possible, probably by e-mail, let all of the intervenors know what our plan will be regarding submissions.  If we don't resolve that today then we will let you know on Tuesday.  


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you everyone.  We are now adjourned.  Have a good long weekend.  


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 1:38 p.m.
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